## Successive Forging of Quenchable Steel, Aluminium and Stainless Steel Sheets having Thickness Distribution and Inclined Cross-Section (肉厚分布と傾斜断面を持つ焼入れ鋼, アルミニウム,ステンレス鋼板の逐次鍛造)

October, 2016

Doctor of Engineering

## Nur Liyana Binti Tajul Lile

ヌル リヤナ ビンチィ タジュル ライ

Toyohashi University of Technology

### Successive Forging of Quenchable Steel, Aluminium and Stainless Steel Sheets having Thickness Distribution and Inclined Cross-Section (肉厚分布と傾斜断面を持つ焼入れ鋼, アルミニウム,ステンレス鋼板の逐次鍛造)

#### Abstract

The use of tailored blanks having a thickness distribution increases in automobile body parts, because the tailored blanks offer substantial weight reduction, crash resistance and protection. The tailored blanks allow the use of an optimum thickness distribution in parts, and thus material utilisation is optimised and weight is reduced. Although the tailored blanks are generally produced by welding, joining of multiple sheets by welding is not easy and the sharp change in thickness induces stress concentration. Although stress concentration is reduced by gradual change of the thickness in the transient region for tailor-rolled blanks, these blanks are expensive.

A successive forging process of tailored blanks having a thickness distribution supplied for hot stamping was developed to overcome these problems. In this study, a blank having a uniform thickness was successively compressed with upper and lower punches. Since local deformation was repeated in successive forging, the forging load is comparatively small, and tailored blanks without joining are produced as well as to the tailor rolling process. The thickness was controlled only by the feed under a fixed stroke of the punch. As the feed decreases, the forging load decreases due to small contact area, and thus, the reduction in thickness of the blank becomes large for small elastic deformation of the press and tools.

During compression, the press ram is inclined by deflection of the press frame, and then tool marks were observed on the surface of the tailored blank. Finite element simulation was performed to obtain the shape of the punch to prevent the tool marks on the surface of the tailored blank. A die for correcting the upper punch inclination was proposed to reduce the tool marks. By inserting concave and convex plates into a C-frame of a press, the inclination of the upper punch was reduced and the misalignment between the upper and lower punches was decreased. Uneven surface of the tailor blank was minimised by using corner radius punch and also concave and convex plates.

Although aluminium alloys are attractive to reduce the weight of a car, car parts produced from steel are effective due to high strength and lower cost. High strength steel sheets however, are difficult to form. Hot stamping reduces the flow stress, forming load and produces parts strengthened by martensitic transformation. A tailored blank having

i

two thicknesses was successively forged, and then hot-stamped into a roof rail miniature. The large curvature of the tailor-forged blank by successive forging was eliminated after the hot stamping process. The strength of the hot-stamped roof rail miniature increase significantly. A reduction of weight by 20% for the tailor-forged roof rail miniature was measured.

For tailor-rolled blanks, the thickness of the sheet is reduced and this portion is workhardened. However, the strength required for the thin portion is small, whereas the strength is increased by work-hardening. Sheet forging having local thickening by beading and compression was developed to produce sheet having a strength distribution. A uniform thickness sheet was beaded and the sheet was then compressed to form thickening. As the beading die height increases, the degree of thickening increases. The effect of beading die shape was analysed to prevent folding for a large beading height. The produced tailored blank has high and low strengths for the thick and thin portions, respectively.

Sheet forging is widely used in metal forming industries to form sheets having a thin cross-section into various shapes and thicknesses. In this process, the forming load becomes high due to the large frictional restraint. For long parts, the forming load increases for large deforming area. Long sheets having a uniform cross-section are generally produced by rolling, whereas it is not easy to change tools and formed crosssectional shapes are limited due to curvature and wrinkling. Long sheets are also produced by cutting, however this process results in a large amount of scrap. The use of long parts having an inclined cross-section is important in the printing industry to ensure smooth and high quality printing. These blades are used for cleaning and regulating toners in printers. In order to produce a long sheet having an inclined cross-section, a successive forging process was employed. Since only a small portion of the sheet was deformed at a time, a small load is required. The used of a taper bottom inclined punch minimised the formation of waving and depression of the forged sheet. A side guide was introduced to reduce the curvature of the sheet. However for a very small feeding, burr was formed on the side of the sheet due to a large curvature. The introduction of a grooved die eliminates the curvature of the forged sheet having an inclined cross-section.

ii

### Table of contents

Abstract	i
Table of Contents	iii
List of Figures	viii
List of Tables	xiii
Chapter 1: Introduction	
1.1. An Overview	
1.1.1. Lightweight technologies of automobiles	1
1.1.2. High strength steel sheets	3
1.2. Tailored blanks	
1.2.1. Tailor-welded blanks	4
1.2.2. Tailor-rolled blanks	5
1.3. Plate Forging	6
1.4. Incremental Forming	7
1.5. Successive Forging	8
1.6. Hot Stamping	8
1.7. Research Objectives	
1.7.1. Control of thickness distribution in successive forging of tailored	12
blank for hot stamping	
1.7.2. Successive forging of long sheet having inclined cross-section	12
by adjusting the feeding interval	
1.8. Outline of dissertation	13

2.1. Introduction	15
2.2. Approach of successive forging of tailored blanks	16
2.3. Results of successive forging of tailor blank having thickness	
distribution with constant feeding	
2.3.1. Tailored blank having two thicknesses	19
2.3.2. Tailored blank having three thicknesses	25
2.4. Control of thickness distribution in transient regions	
2.4.1. Control of decrease in thickness	27
2.4.2. Control of increase in thickness	28
2.4.3. Thickness distribution of tailored blank with feeding control	30
2.5 Conclusions	33
Chapter 3. Improvement of surface quality of tailor-forged blank produced	h
Chapter 3: Improvement of surface quanty of tanor-torget blank produced	i Dy
successive forging with optimised punch	i Dy
successive forging with optimised punch 3.1. Introduction	34
<ul> <li>successive forging with optimised punch</li> <li>3.1. Introduction</li> <li>3.2. Optimised punch shapes for successive forging of tailored blank</li> </ul>	34
<ul> <li>successive forging with optimised punch</li> <li>3.1. Introduction</li> <li>3.2. Optimised punch shapes for successive forging of tailored blank</li> <li>3.2.1. Finite element simulation of successive forging</li> </ul>	34 35
<ul> <li>Successive forging with optimised punch</li> <li>3.1. Introduction</li> <li>3.2. Optimised punch shapes for successive forging of tailored blank</li> <li>3.2.1. Finite element simulation of successive forging</li> <li>3.2.2. Experiment results</li> </ul>	34 35 38
<ul> <li>successive forging with optimised punch</li> <li>3.1. Introduction</li> <li>3.2. Optimised punch shapes for successive forging of tailored blank</li> <li>3.2.1. Finite element simulation of successive forging</li> <li>3.2.2. Experiment results</li> <li>3.3. Improvement of surface quality of tailor-forged blank by tools with</li> </ul>	34 35 38 39
<ul> <li>successive forging with optimised punch</li> <li>3.1. Introduction</li> <li>3.2. Optimised punch shapes for successive forging of tailored blank</li> <li>3.2.1. Finite element simulation of successive forging</li> <li>3.2.2. Experiment results</li> <li>3.3. Improvement of surface quality of tailor-forged blank by tools with correction of inclination</li> </ul>	34 35 38 39
<ul> <li>successive forging with optimised punch</li> <li>3.1. Introduction</li> <li>3.2. Optimised punch shapes for successive forging of tailored blank</li> <li>3.2.1. Finite element simulation of successive forging</li> <li>3.2.2. Experiment results</li> <li>3.3. Improvement of surface quality of tailor-forged blank by tools with correction of inclination</li> <li>3.4. Surface quality for different punch shapes with tools for correcting inclination</li> </ul>	34 35 38 39
<ul> <li>successive forging with optimised punch</li> <li>3.1. Introduction</li> <li>3.2. Optimised punch shapes for successive forging of tailored blank</li> <li>3.2.1. Finite element simulation of successive forging</li> <li>3.2.2. Experiment results</li> <li>3.3. Improvement of surface quality of tailor-forged blank by tools with correction of inclination</li> <li>3.4. Surface quality for different punch shapes with tools for correcting inclination</li> <li>3.4.1. Small radius of punch corner</li> </ul>	34 35 38 39 43
<ul> <li>successive forging with optimised punch</li> <li>3.1. Introduction</li> <li>3.2. Optimised punch shapes for successive forging of tailored blank</li> <li>3.2.1. Finite element simulation of successive forging</li> <li>3.2.2. Experiment results</li> <li>3.3. Improvement of surface quality of tailor-forged blank by tools with correction of inclination</li> <li>3.4. Surface quality for different punch shapes with tools for correcting inclination</li> <li>3.4.1. Small radius of punch corner</li> <li>3.4.2. Large radius of punch corner</li> </ul>	34 35 38 39 43 45

#### Chapter 2: Successive forging of tailored blank having thickness distribution

3.5. Conclusions	47
Chapter 4: Hot stamping of roof rail from tailored blank having thi	ckness
distribution	
4.1. Introduction	49
4.2. Procedure of hot stamping of roof rail from tailored blank having	50
two thicknesses	
4.3. Hot stamping of roof rail from Al-Si coated 22MnB5 boron steel tailored blar	ık
4.3.1. Shape and geometry	52
4.3.2. Surface coating	56
4.3.3. Hardness	57
4.4. Hot stamping of roof rail from non-coated 22MnB5 boron steel tailored blank	
4.4.1. Shape and geometry	59
4.4.2. Bending test	62
4.5. Conclusions	63
Chapter 5: Local thickening of aluminium and SPCC sheets by beading	g and
compression	
5.1. Introduction	65
5.2. Approach of local thickening by bending and compression	66
5.3. Results of local thickening of aluminium sheets	
5.3.1. Thickening behaviour	69
5.3.2. Thickness distribution	71
5.4. Effect of die angle on local thickening of SPCC sheets	73
5.5. Comparison of local thickening between aluminium and SPCC sheets	76
5.6. Conclusions	77

# Chapter 6: Successive forging of aluminium and stainless steel long sheets having inclined cross-section

6.1. Introduction	79
6.2. Approach of successive forging of aluminium and stainless steel long	80
sheets	
6.3. Results of successive forging of long sheet	
6.3.1. Aluminium sheet having inclined cross-section	84
6.3.2. Stainless steel sheet having inclined cross-section	90
6.4. Prevention of side curvature and burr by grooved die	92
6.5. Conclusions	96
Chapter 7: Concluding remarks	
7.1. Summary	
7.1.1. Successive forging of tailored blank having thickness distribution	97
7.1.2. Improvement of surface quality of tailor-forged blank	98
produced by successive forging by optimisation of punch shape	
7.1.3. Hot stamping of roof rail from tailored blank having	98
thickness distribution	
7.1.4. Local thickening of aluminium and SPCC sheets by beading	98
and compression	
7.1.5. Successive forging of aluminium and stainless steel long	99
sheets having inclined cross-sections	
7.2. Future perspectives	99

References	103
List of publications	111
List of conferences	112
Acknowledgements	113

### **List of Figures**

Fig. 1.1.	Pie chart of weight fraction of passenger car [8].			
Fig. 1.2.	Application of high strength steel parts in 2011 Honda CR-Z [20].			
Fig. 1.3.	Processes of producing stamped parts having thickness distribution [26]			
Fig. 1.4. Process of producing tailor-rolled blanks having thickness				
	distribution [32].	6		
Fig. 1.5.	Single point incremental forming process [44].	7		
Fig. 1.6.	Process of producing hot-stamped parts.	9		
Fig. 1.7.	B-pillars having strength distribution [57].	10		
Fig. 1.8.	Tailoring in hot stamping.	11		
Fig. 2.1.	Proposed successive forging of tailored blanks having thickness			
	distribution for hot stamping.	17		
Fig. 2.2.	Reduction in thickness of blank by elastic deformation of press and			
	tools (a) without compression, (b) for small feed and (c) for large feed.	18		
Fig. 2.3.	Tools and dimensions for successive forging of tailored blank.	19		
Fig. 2.4.	Tailored blank by successive forging for $f = 1$ mm and number			
	of strikes of 130 times.	20		
Fig. 2.5.	Thickness distribution of tailored blank having two thicknesses with			
	total feed for $f = 1$ mm and number of strikes of 130 times.	21		
Fig. 2.6.	Variation of forging load of tailored blank having two thicknesses			
	with total feed for $f = 1$ mm and number of strikes of 130 times	22		
Fig. 2.7.	Thickness distributions of tailor-forged blank in transient zone.	23		
Fig. 2.8.	Length of transient zone for different feeds of successive forging			
	of tailored blanks.	24		
Fig. 2.9.	Relationships between steady-state reduction in thickness and constant			
	feed, and between steady-state forging load and constant feed.	25		
Fig. 2.10.	Thickness distribution of three thicknesses tailored blank after			
	successive forging.	26		
Fig. 2.11.	Mechanisms for (a) decrease and (b) increase in thicknesses of			
	transient regions.	27		

Fig. 2.12.	Change in thickness for constant feed and $f = 0.1, 0.5$ and 7 mm.			
Fig. 2.13.	Feed per one strike for variable feed and $f_v = 1$ , 1.5 and 3 mm.			
Fig. 2.14.	Change in thickness for variable feed.			
Fig. 2.15.	Tailored blank with feeding control by successive forging.			
Fig. 2.16.	Thickness distribution of tailored blank with feeding control.	32		
Fig. 2.17.	Feed paths with and without control for tailored blank having			
	three thicknesses.	33		
Fig. 3.1.	Punch shapes for optimisation in successive forging of tailored blank.	35		
Fig. 3.2.	Finite element model for successive forging of tailored blank.	36		
Fig. 3.3.	Blank deformation and marking depth for different punches.	37		
Fig. 3.4.	Relationship between tool marking depth and punch radius			
	for $f = 5$ mm.	38		
Fig. 3.5.	Surface profile of tailored blanks for $f = 5$ mm with corner punch			
	radius of 1 mm.	39		
Fig. 3.6.	Dies (a) without and (b) with tools for correcting inclination in			
	successive forging.	40		
Fig. 3.7.	Die for correcting incline in successive forging of tailored blank			
	having thickness distribution.	41		
Fig. 3.8.	Misalignment of upper punch from lower punch (a) without and			
	(b) with tools for correcting inclination at bottom dead centre.	42		
Fig. 3.9.	Contact area between upper die and sheet during compression			
	with and without incline correction.	43		
Fig. 3.10.	Surface profile of tailored blanks with and without incline			
	correction for feeding 5 mm with corner punch radius of $R = 1$ mm.	44		
Fig. 3.11.	Surfaces of tailored blank (a) without and (b) with incline correction			
	for $f = 5$ mm.	45		
Fig. 3.12.	Surface profile of tailored blanks with incline correction for feeding			
	5 mm with corner radius punch of $R = 3$ mm	46		
Fig. 3.13.	Surface profile of tailored blanks with incline correction for feeding			
	5 mm with chamfer punch of 1 mm.	47		
Fig. 4.1.	Dimension of (a) tailored blank and (b) hot-stamped rail roof.	51		

Fig. 4.2.	Hot stamping of roof rail miniature from tailor-forged blank having	
	thickness distribution.	52
Fig. 4.3.	Thickness distributions of hot-stamped roof rail miniatures from	
	tailored blank and uniform thickness blank.	53
Fig. 4.4.	Roof rail miniatures of (a) tailored blank and (b) uniform thickness	
	blank and (c) cross-sections of roof rail miniatures.	54
Fig. 4.5.	Distribution of difference of height of upper surface in longitudinal	
	direction before and after hot stamping.	55
Fig. 4.6.	Weight for roof rail miniatures of tailored blank and uniform	
	thickness blank.	56
Fig. 4.7.	Cross-sections of tailor-forged blank with and without compression	
	(a) before and (b) after hot stamping.	57
Fig. 4.8.	Distributions of Vickers hardness of tailored blank before and	
	after hot stamping.	58
Fig. 4.9.	Tailor blank and miniatures of roof rail from 22MnB5 tailored and	
	uniform thickness blanks.	59
Fig. 4.10.	Thickness distribution of hot-stamped roof rail miniatures from	
	tailored blank and uniform thickness blank from 22MnB5 steel.	60
Fig. 4.11.	Feeding control for 22MnB5 tailored blank having two thicknesses.	61
Fig. 4.12.	Surface of miniatures of roof rail from different materials.	62
Fig. 4.13.	Relationship between bending load and stroke for 22MnB5	
	roof rail miniatures of tailored blank and uniform thickness blank.	63
Fig. 5.1.	Sheet having local thickening by beading and compression.	66
Fig. 5.2.	Experimental setup for sheet having local thickening by	
	beading and compression.	67
Fig. 5.3.	Beading and compression dies dimension.	68
Fig. 5.4.	Aluminium sheet deformation after beading and compression for	
	different beading heights with beading die $\alpha = 180^{\circ}$ .	70
Fig. 5.5.	Thickening behaviour for aluminium sheets having thickness of	
	1.5 mm and beading heights of 5 and 8 mm with beading die	
	of $\alpha = 180^{\circ}$ .	71

Fig. 5.6.	Cross-sections of local thickening area after beading and	
	compression with beading die $\alpha = 180^{\circ}$ .	72
Fig. 5.7.	Thickness distribution for aluminium sheet with beading height	
	of 3 mm.	73
Fig. 5.8.	Effect of beading die angle on local thickening of SPCC sheet.	74
Fig. 5.9.	Thickening behaviour of SPCC sheets for beading die angle of $120^{\circ}$	
	and 180°.	75
Fig. 5.10.	Relationships between thickness distribution and distance from	
	sheet edge, and between strength distribution and distance from	
	sheet edge.	76
Fig. 5.11.	Maximum change in thickness for aluminium and SPCC sheets by	
	beading and compression.	77
Fig. 6.1.	Steps in successive forging of long sheet having inclined cross-section.	81
Fig. 6.2.	Experimental setup for successive forging of long sheet having	
	inclined cross-section.	82
Fig. 6.3.	Dimensions of flat and taper bottom inclined punches.	83
Fig. 6.4.	Long sheet having inclined cross-section for $t = 3 \text{ mm and } f = 5 \text{mm}$ .	84
Fig. 6.5.	Relationship between forging interval and radius of curvature.	85
Fig. 6.6.	Forged sheets having inclined cross-section with exit guide	
	and tapered punch.	86
Fig. 6.7.	Relationship between the average width difference and forging	
	interval for two punches.	87
Fig. 6.8.	Relationship between elongation in longitudinal direction	
	and forging interval for two punches.	88
Fig. 6.9.	Relationship between forging load and forging interval for	
	two punches.	89
Fig. 6.10.	Relationship between reduction in thickness and forging interval for	
	two punches.	90
Fig. 6.11.	Stainless steel sheets having an inclined cross-section for (a) $f = 1$ mm,	

	(b) $f = 3 \text{ mm and } (c) f = 5 \text{ mm.}$	91
Fig. 6.12.	Burr formation on side of stainless steel sheet having inclined	
	cross-section.	92
Fig. 6.13.	(a) Grooved die for preventing curvature of formed sheet and (b)	
	experimental setup with grooved die.	93
Fig. 6.14.	Stainless steel sheets having inclined cross-section for (a) $f = 1$ mm,	
	(b) $f = 3 \text{ mm and } (c) f = 5 \text{ mm.}$	94
Fig. 6.15.	Forging load for stainless steel and aluminium sheets.	95
Fig. 6.16.	Relationship between the average width difference and forging	
	interval for aluminium and stainless steel sheets.	95
Fig. 7.1.	Control of transient regions and length distribution.	100
Fig. 7.2.	Punch shapes and movements for producing 2D profile	
	tailor-forged blank.	101
Fig. 7.3.	Successive forging of tailored blanks having local thickening by	
	beading and compression.	102

### **List of Tables**

Table 1.1.	Tensile strength and specific gravity of various metals [15].		
Table 2.1.	Chemical compositions of 22MnB5 boron steel sheet [%].	19	
Table 3.1.	Conditions used for finite element simulation for successive		
	forging of tailored blank.	36	
Table 4.1.	Chemical composition of Al-Si coated quenchable steel [%].	50	
Table 5.1.	Conditions used for sheet forging of aluminium A1050 and		
	SPCC sheets.	69	
Table 6.1.	Sheets used for experiment of successive forging.	83	
Table 6.2.	Forging condition used for experiment of successive forging.	84	

### Chapter 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 An overview

#### 1.1.1. Lightweight technology of automobiles

The weight of automobiles has grown steadily over the years to fulfil the risen demand of cars with high performance, safety structure, additional comfort and large space. The increase in the car weight leads to the increase in fuel consumption and global emissions. Automobiles emission issues have been widely addressed due to ecological and economical reasons [1, 2]. In the year 2000, the land transport took 72.3% of total CO<sub>2</sub> emission as compared to other modes of transportation [3]. For a better environment, production of lightweight cars has been a great challenge for car manufacturers. A reduction of car weight by 100 kg leads to a reduction of CO<sub>2</sub> emission by 9 grams per kilometre [4]. Technologies of producing lightweight automobiles to meet these requirements have been developed, for example light metals, design optimisation and advanced forming technology [5-7]. Fig 1.1 shows the pie chart of weight fraction of a passenger car. As the body-in-white contributes about 28% of the car weight [8], it offers a great potential for weight reduction.



Fig. 1.1 Pie chart of weight fraction of passenger car [8].

Light metals such as aluminium alloys have been used extensively in automobiles engine block, chassis, body-in-white parts, etc. due to their high strength-to-weight ratio, good formability and corrosion resistance [9, 10]. As compared to steel, the density of aluminium and magnesium are much lighter by 66% and 78%, respectively [11]. In Japan, the use of aluminium alloys in car body panel started in 1985 [12]. Although aluminium and magnesium alloys are attractive in reducing the automobiles weight, the high cost of these materials as compared to steel becomes an obstacle for a large-scale and high volume production. The demand of lightweight vehicle has led the steel industry to the development of steel having superior mechanical properties and more cost-effective. Table 1.1 shows the tensile strength and specific gravity of various metals. The ultra-high strength steel sheets of tensile strength up to 1400 MPa provide excellent strength improvement and weight reduction of automobile body structure [13, 14]. As compared to aluminium alloys, the strength-to-specific gravity of the ultra-high strength steel is greater. To fulfil the demand of automobile parts having complex shape, the high strength steel sheets not only need to have strength characteristics, but also excellent press-forming capabilities.

Sheet	Tensile strength	Specific gravity	Strength-to-specific
			gravity ratio
Ultra high tensile	980-1470 MPa	7.8	126-188 MPa
strength steel			
High tensile	490-790 MPa	7.8	63-101 MPa
strength steel			
Mild steel SPCC	340 MPa	7.8	44 MPa
Aluminium alloy	310 MPa	2.7	115 MPa
A6061			

Table 1.1 Tensile strength and specific gravity of various metals [15].

#### **1.1.2. High strength steel sheets**

The use of high strength steel sheets is expanding to meet the demand for energy efficient vehicles. The replacement of conventional mild steel with high strength steel eliminates the needs of local reinforcement of parts, hence reduces the thickness and weight without reducing the strength. High strength steels are used strategically to increase the resistance to deformation and minimize intrusions into the passenger area in a case of collision [16]. Fig 1.2 illustrates the application of high strength steel in 2011 Honda CR-Z. During a crash, high strength steel parts provide excellent strength, durability and crashworthiness properties. However, stamping of high strength steel becomes difficult due to high strength, large forming load, low formability, large springback, etc. [17-19]. Conventionally, to prevent springback, the shape and geometry of the forming dies undergo several modifications during the trial process which result in additional die manufacturing cost, time and waste of materials.



Fig. 1.2 Application of high strength steel parts in 2011 Honda CR-Z [20].

#### 1.2. Tailored blanks

#### 1.2.1. Tailor-welded blanks

Automobile parts having an optimum thickness distribution further improve the weight reduction of a vehicle. Semi-finished parts such as tailored blanks which provide local reinforcement at desired areas do not only reduce the weight of a stamped part but also increase the strength and improve the passenger safety [21]. Fig 1.3 shows the processes of producing stamped parts having a thickness distribution. Conventionally, the automobile body parts are produced by stamping different sheets of thicknesses and strengths individually before joining them together to form a single part having thickness and strength distributions. Tailored blanks on the other hand, are generally produced by joining two or more sheets together by welding and subsequently stamped into the final shape. This method suppresses the conventional one as it reduces the amount of stamping dies, scrap and additional welding [22]. In a sheet metal forming process, the formability of the tailor-welded blank is a concern to prevent failure during forming [23-25]. The sharp change in thickness induces stress concentration, and limits the formability of the tailor-welded blank. The different strengths in tailor-welded blanks on the other hand, cause non-uniform metal flow and weld line movement. The joining of sheet by welding changes the material properties at the weld area as well as the heat affected zone. These



factors increase the tendency of fracture and tearing during stamping.



#### 1.2.2. Tailor-rolled blanks

Tailored blanks having a thickness distribution without joining are produced by a rolling process. These blanks are named as tailor-rolled blanks. Fig. 1.4 illustrates the process of producing tailor-rolled blanks having a thickness distribution in the longitudinal direction. The thickness of the sheet is controlled by adjusting the roll gap between rollers [27, 28]. The thickness of the compressed sheet is measured directly during rolling and correction of the roll gap distance is conducted instantaneously to achieve the desired thickness. The gradual thickness changes in the transient region of the tailor-rolled blank reduces the stress concentration as in tailor-welded blanks. The thickness distribution of the tailor-rolled blank is more flexible and formability is

improved [29, 30]. Due to the rolling process, the distribution of strength varies according to the amount of the reduction in thickness caused by different work hardening [31]. The thin portion of tailor-rolled blanks undergoes large reduction in thickness has higher strength as compared to the thicker portion which is opposite for cold stamping. In addition, the control system is not commonly available and the supply of tailor-rolled blanks is limited.



Fig. 1.4 Process of producing tailor-rolled blanks having thickness distribution [32].

#### **1.3. Plate forging**

In a sheet metal forming process, stamped parts are accurately produced, however the thickness distribution is not optimum and results in excessive weight and also failure. The wall thickness at the corners of the stamped part tends to decrease during stamping and

leads to strength reduction. Plate forging is attractive in controlling thickness and strength distributions of automobile parts. To prevent tearing at the corners of the stamped parts without increasing the whole body thickness, local thickening of the blank was introduced by plate forging [33-35]. The local thickening of the blank increases the strength only at the desired area and hence improves the formability without increasing too much weight. Automobile parts having complex shape such as gear and seat recliner parts are also produced by plate forging [36, 37]. The formability of the forged parts is improved and high precision products are produced by controlling the metal flow [38]. Although plate forging is desirable, the large friction force between tools and blank increases the forging load. In order to reduce the forging load, plate forging process by using load pulsation has been introduced to allow re-lubrication of the sheet [39-42].

#### **1.4. Incremental Forming**

Incremental sheet forming is a process where sheets are formed locally into final desired shape and geometry by series of small deformation by a ballpoint or hemispherical tools under a predefined tool path [43, 44]. Fig. 1.5 illustrates the single point incremental forming process. In this process, the tool moves and follows the shape that has been described by the CAD data without the need of any supporting dies. Since the contact area between the tools and sheet is small the forming load is small. Although the elimination of die reduces the tooling cost, the production and the forming time is longer as compared to other conventional metal forming processes.



Fig. 1.5 Single point incremental forming process [44].

#### 1.5. Successive forging

Successive forging is a compression process that deforms a small portion of the sheet sequentially and repetitively [45]. During successive forging the sheet is compressed by upper and lower punches. As compared to incremental forming, the punches are fixed during successive forging while the sheet are moved into the compression region. The feeding interval is control by a feeder machine that moves the sheet for compression. Since the deformation is small, the forging load is reduced and hence the successive forging process can be conducted by using small mechanical presses which are more commonly available in the metal forming industry [46]. In addition, by changing the amount of feeding, the elastic deformation of the press machine is linearly affected. The thickness distribution of the forged sheet is controlled by adjusting the feeding interval. A small feeding interval requires a small forging load and hence the elastic deformation of the press and tools is small. Therefore the reduction in thickness is large. For a large feeding, the elastic deformation is large and hence the reduction in thickness is small.

#### **1.6. Hot Stamping**

Safer and lighter cars have been produced by ultra-high strength steel and hot stamping. Hot stamping is effective to overcome the problems in forming high strength steel sheets [47-49]. Initially the sheet is heated in a furnace to an austenitic temperature (see Fig. 1.6). The sheet is then transferred to dies where forming and quenching processes are conducted simultaneously. Deformation of the sheet is carried out at high temperature and hence, the flow stress and forming load are reduced while the formability is improved [50-52]. Boron steel sheets having an original ferritic-pearlitic form are commonly used to produce automobile parts such as B-pillars and front bumpers due to its ability to fully transform into martensitic microstructure. The hot-stamped ultra-high strength steel reaches a tensile strength of 1.5 GPa after quenching between dies [53]. Although parts having high strength are produced by hot stamping, oxide scales are formed on the surface of the heated sheet while transferring the sheet from the furnace to the dies [54-56]. Additional process such as shot blasting is required to remove the oxide scales after hot stamping. Steel makers are introducing quenchable steels with Al-Si coating to protect



the surface from oxidation and decarburisation at high temperature.

Fig 1.6 Process of producing hot-stamped parts.

Automobile structure body parts such as B-pillars requires high crash safety to protect the passenger during a collision. Although the whole body of stamped parts is generally die-quenched in hot stamping, increasing the strength of the whole parts is not sufficient. The balance of strength and ductility is required for automobile parts, and tailoring in hot stamping are useful. The B-pillar shown in Fig. 1.7 having a strength distribution is produced to fulfil the safety demands. The centre of the B-pillar have high strength to preserve the automobile structure and secure the passenger from intrusion while both ends have higher ductility for better energy absorption. Fig 1.8(a) illustrated the tailored die quenching process for producing parts having a strength distribution. Only the area requiring high strength is locally heated above the austenitic temperature before the whole body is die quenched [57, 58]. In contrast, the whole sheet is austenitised first, before quenching with a locally controlled cooling rate as shown in Fig. 1.8(b) [59, 60]. In a similar approach of tailor die quenching, parts having locally high strength are produced by quenching only portions in contact with the die [61]. Although the energy absorption of automobiles in the collision is improved by the tailored heat treatment, the thickness distribution of products effective for the weight reduction is not optimised.



Fig 1.7 B-pillars having strength distribution [57].



Fig 1.8 Tailoring in hot stamping.

Tailor blanks are not only cold-stamped but also hot-stamped to obtain products having an optimal thickness distribution for weight reduction [62]. Sheets of different materials and thicknesses are joined together by welding prior to the hot stamping process to produce parts having thickness and strength distribution. Automobile body structure parts are commonly joined of micro-alloyed steel and boron steel sheets to produce parts having high energy absorption as well as high strength [63, 64]. The weld area however, possess a weaker tensile strength as compared to the parent metals after quenching [65]. Joining Al-Si coated quenchable steels by laser welding dissolves the coating into the weld zone and causes non-homogenous martensitic formation after hot forming [66]. Since the quenchability of the weld is lower than that of the base metals, a higher cooling rate is required to prevent the drop in strength around the weld. Tailor-rolled blanks are hotstamped to produce parts having a strength distribution. The variation of thickness affects the temperature distribution during quenching hence the strength distribution is controlled [67].

#### 1.7. Research objectives

## **1.7.1.** Control of thickness distribution in successive forging of tailored blank for hot stamping

The aim of this dissertation is to develop a method of producing tailored blanks having a thickness distribution supplied for hot stamping by successive forging. Tailorwelded blanks having a thickness distribution offer a substantial weight reduction and strength improvement, however joining sheets having different thicknesses and shapes are not easy and formability decreases. Although rolling produces tailored blank with improves formability and thickness flexibility, the equipment used is expensive. To reduce the investment cost, a method of producing tailored blanks having a thickness distribution by successive forging is developed. Under a constant punch stroke, the degree of reduction in thickness is adjusted by controlling the feeding interval. By reducing the deformation area, the amount of load is reduced. The tailor-forged blanks are then hotstamped into a miniature of roof rails.

## **1.7.2.** Successive forging of long sheet having inclined cross-section by adjusting the feeding interval

Long parts having inclined cross-section are generally produced by cutting, however the material loss is large. Rolling long sheet on the other hand causes wrinkling and curvature due to non-uniform sheet deformation. In this study a process of producing long sheet having an inclined cross-section by successive forging is developed. An inclined punch having a taper bottom surface and a grooved die are developed for preventing curvature and depression of the long sheet. The effects of forging interval on the forging load, reduction in thickness and waving of the long sheet having an inclined cross-section are investigated.

#### **1.8. Outline of dissertation**

This dissertation is about forming tailored blanks having a thickness distribution by controlling the amount of feeding. The produced tailor blank having two thicknesses by successive forging was then hot-stamped into a miniature of roof rail. The successive forging process was also applied to produce a long sheet having an inclined cross-section. Finally, forging of sheet having local thickening was carried out by beading and compression.

This dissertation has seven chapters as follows;

Chapter 2 presents the development of successive forging of tailored blank having a thickness distribution for hot stamping. In this process, the thickness of the blank is controlled by adjusting the amount of feeding. The reduction in thickness of the sheet is large for a small feeding due to small elastic deformation of the press and tools. A large feeding on the other hand produces a small reduction in thickness. The transient region connecting between the thin and thick area are control by the constant and variable feeding.

Chapter 3 presents the optimisation of the punch shape in successive forging to minimize the tool marks formed on the surface of the tailor-forged blank. The effect of punch shapes on the tool marking depth are investigated by finite element method. Convex and concave plates are inserted into the C-frame to reduce the upper punch inclination due to elastic deformation of the press. The tool marks formed on the surface of the tailored blank are compared between the tools with and without correcting inclination.

Chapter 4 presents the hot stamping of tailored blank having two thicknesses. The tailored blank is produced by successive forging by adjusting the amount of feeding. The strength of the blanks before and after hot stamping is investigated. The behaviour of Al-Si coating of the quenchable steel is examined to ensure no oxide scale formation during hot stamping. The properties of the uniform thickness and tailored roof rail miniatures are compared.

Chapter 5 presents a sheet forging process of producing tailor blanks having local thickening by beading and compression. The height of the beaded die is varied to examine the formation of the local thickening. The effect of beading die shapes is analysed to

increase the degree of local thickening and to prevent folding. The hardness of the sheet after beading and compression is measured to obtain the strength distribution.

Chapter 6 presents a process of producing a long sheet having an inclined cross-section by successive forging. The long sheet is forged by inclined punches having flat and taper bottoms. The effect of feeding on forging load and reduction in thickness are investigated. A side guide and a grooved die are developed to prevent the curvature of the sheet due to different deformation of the material.

The concluding remarks and future perspective are presented in Chapter 7.

### Chapter 2 Successive forging of tailored blank having thickness distribution

#### **2.1 Introduction**

The demand of high performance and spacious cars has increased the overall weight of an automobile. The increase in weight leads to the increase in fuel consumption and CO<sub>2</sub> emission [68, 69]. The reduction of car weight has been a challenge to car makers to produce lighter cars without risking the passenger safety. New materials, advanced forming processes and design optimisation have been developed to achieve this requirement [5, 7, 9, 70]. Lightweight metals such as aluminium and magnesium alloys have been applied in the production of car parts. However parts made from aluminium and magnesium alloys are more costly to produce. Steel on the other hand offers good strength, formability and weldability at a lower cost.

For the reduction in weight and improvement of crash safety of automobiles, the use of high strength steel increases. For automobile application, the ultra-high strength steel with tensile strength up to 1400 MPa has been introduced. High strength steels having high crash resistance provide great passenger protection during an impact [71]. Although high strength steel parts are useful, cold stamping of the sheets becomes difficult due to high strength, large springback, low formability, etc. [17, 19]. The optimisation of thickness distribution for body-in-white parts is effective in reducing the weight. The thickness of the parts for the required strength is controlled, i.e. the thickness is large for portions of requiring high strength, whereas that of portions requiring lower strength is thin. Tailored blanks having an optimum thickness distribution offers great potential in weight reduction and strength improvement. Tailored blanks are mainly produced by welding and rolling. For tailor-welded blanks, sheets of different materials and thickness are joined together to obtain parts having different strengths and thicknesses. Reinforcement of a part is done only at the desired area hence excess weight is eliminated [21]. It is, however, joining multiple sheets of thickness is difficult. Stress concentration by the change of thickness between the welded sheets brings about the reduction in formability [23]. Tailor-rolled blanks having a thickness distribution on the other hand are produced without joining [28, 29, 32]. The stress concentration by the change of thickness distribution is more flexible than tailor welding. Since thin portions of the tailor-rolled blank have high strength by work-hardening for a large reduction in thickness, the distribution of the required strength becomes opposite for cold stamping [31]. In addition, the supply of tailor-rolled blanks is limited.

In the present study, a successive forging process of tailored blanks having a thickness distribution for hot-stamped products was developed. Since only a small portion of the sheet is forged at one time the forming load was reduced. The thickness of the sheet was controlled by adjusting the feed. The relationship between the thickness after compression and the feed was investigated. The final publication of this study is available at Springer via http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s00170-016-9356-z.

#### 2.2 Approach of successive forging of tailored blanks

A successive forging process was developed to optimise the thickness distribution of a blank supplied for hot stamping. The proposed successive forging of tailored blanks having a thickness distribution for hot stamping is shown in Fig. 2.1. The blank having uniform thickness was successively compressed with the upper and lower punches. Since local deformation is repeated in successive forging, the forging load is comparatively small. Tailored blanks without joining are produced as well as the tailor rolling process, and thus the stress concentration for the tailor-welded blanks is prevented. Although the tailor-forged blanks have higher strength in the thin portions by larger reduction in thickness, work-hardening, this effect is eliminated by heating during hot stamping.



Fig. 2.1 Proposed successive forging of tailored blanks having thickness distribution for hot stamping.

The reduction in thickness of the sheet is influenced by elastic deformation of a press and tools as shown in Fig. 2.2. For a small feed, the forging load is low due to small contact area, and thus, the reduction in thickness of the blank becomes large for small elastic deformation of the press and tools. On the other hand, the reduction in thickness becomes small for a large feed. This leads to control of the reduction in thickness by the feed.



Fig. 2.2 Reduction in thickness of blank by elastic deformation of press and tools (a) without compression, (b) for small feed and (c) for large feed.

A 22MnB5 boron steel sheet was employed for the successive forging of tailored blanks having a thickness distribution. The length, width and thickness of the blank were 400 mm, 100 mm and 1.6 mm, respectively. The chemical compositions of the 22MnB5 boron steel sheet are given in Table 2.1. A 1500 kN mechanical servo press was employed in the experiment. A linear scale was employed as a feeder for moving the blank and the feed per one strike was between 0.1 and 7 mm. The stroke of the ram of the press was fixed to be 2.1 mm. The blank was lubricated with water soluble press oil. The tools and dimensions for successive forging of tailored blanks are given in Fig. 2.3.

С	Si	Mn	Р	В
0.21	0.25	1.2	0.015	0.0014

Table 2.1 Chemical compositions of 22MnB5 boron steel sheet [%].



Fig. 2.3 Tools and dimensions for successive forging of tailored blank.

## 2.3 Results of successive forging of tailor blanks having thickness distribution with constant feeding

#### 2.3.1 Tailored blank having two thicknesses

The tailored blank having two thicknesses produced by successive forging for constant feeding is given in Fig. 2.4, where the constant feed per one strike was f = 1 mm and the number of strikes was 130. Only the middle of the blank was compressed for the two thicknesses, i.e. one is that of the compressed region and the other is original. For a total feed of 130 mm, the compressed area is longitudinally elongated to 195 mm, and the width hardly changed due to the large width-to-length ratio of the punch. The successive-forged blank curved and had tool marks on the surface.


Fig. 2.4. Tailored blank by successive forging for f = 1 mm and number of strikes of 130 times.

The thickness distribution of the tailored blank having the two thicknesses is shown in Fig. 2.5. The thickness of the tailor-forged blank was measured along the two lines in the longitudinal direction 25 mm apart from the centre line of the blank, and the average of the measured values is shown. The thickness of the blank sharply changes at the start and end of compression. The thickness gradually decreases from the start of compression and attains a steady-state one. Because of elastic deformation of the press and tools, the steady-state reduction in thickness was r = 33% for a punch stroke of 2.1 mm.



Fig. 2.5 Thickness distribution of tailored blank having two thicknesses with total feed for f = 1 mm and number of strikes of 130 times.

The variation of forging load with the total feed for f = 1 mm and number of strikes of 130 times is given in Fig. 2.6. The load gradually decreases and attains the steady-state one. The distribution of load shows a same pattern as the thickness distribution of the tailor-forged blanks.



Fig. 2.6 Variation of forging load of tailored blank having two thicknesses with total feed for f = 1 mm and number of strikes of 130 times.

The thickness distributions of the tailor-forged blank in the transient zone and the length of the transient zone for different feeds are shown in Fig. 2.7 and Fig. 2.8, respectively. When the change in thickness for a length of 10 mm attains is  $\pm$  1%, the thickness is judged to attain a steady state. As the feed increases, the length of the transient zone decreases.



Fig. 2.7 Thickness distributions of tailor-forged blank in transient zone.



Fig. 2.8 Length of transient zone for different feeds of successive forging of tailored blanks.

The relationships between the steady-state reduction in thickness and the constant feed and between the steady-state forging load and the constant feed are given in Fig. 2.9. As the constant feed increases, the reduction in thickness decreases and the forging load increases. The steady-state reduction in thickness is almost linearly changed with the constant feed by elastic deformation of the press and tools as explained in Fig. 2.2.



Fig. 2.9. Relationships between steady-state reduction in thickness and constant feed, and between steady-state forging load and constant feed.

From Fig. 2.9, the steady-state thickness t of the compressed blank is linearly approximated by

$$t = 0.046 \ f + 0.96 \ \text{mm.}$$
 (2.1)

The thickness in a steady state can be controlled by a constant feed from Eq. (2.1). Since the thickness is controlled by only the feed under a fixed stroke of the punch, conventional mechanical presses having a comparatively low cost can be used by installing a feeder for the production of tailor-forged blanks.

#### 2.3.2 Tailored blank having three thicknesses

The thickness distribution of tailored blank having three thicknesses are given in Fig. 2.10. A constant punch stroke of 2.1 mm was used. The tailored blank was forged for a combination of f = 1 and 7 mm. The transient regions connecting the thin and thick area

are not symmetrical. The slope of the transient region for the decrease in thickness reduced gradually, whereas for the increase in thickness changed rapidly. In order to achieve an optimum thickness distribution for weight reduction, these transient regions need to be controlled. The excess material due to the gradual change in thickness increase the weight.



Fig. 2.10. Thickness distribution of three thicknesses tailored blank after successive forging.

The mechanism for decrease and increase in thicknesses of the transient region is explained in Fig. 2.11. For the decrease in thickness, the punch surface is fully in contact with the blank (see Fig. 2.11(a)). For every compression, the contact area between the punch and sheet is similar. Therefore the forging load and thickness reduced gradually. On the other hand, the contact area with the punch becomes rapidly small for the increase in thickness and thus the thickness distribution tends to become sensitive (see Fig. 2.11

(b)). Therefore a method for controlling the thickness distribution was proposed to adjust the gradual and rapid changes of the transient region.



Fig. 2.11. Mechanisms for (a) decrease and (b) increase in thicknesses of transient regions.

### 2.4. Control of thickness distribution in transient regions

### 2.4.1. Control of decrease in thickness

In order to control the gradual change in thickness of the transient region, the constant feed was employed for the decrease in thickness. The change in thickness for the constant feed is shown in Fig. 2.12. For a small feeding, a gradual change in thickness was obtained, whereas for a large feeding a rapid change in thickness was caused. For a large feeding, the steady-state of the thickness was attained faster as compared to the smaller feeding.



Fig. 2.12. Change in thickness for constant feed and f = 0.1, 0.5 and 7 mm.

### 2.4.2. Control of increase in thickness

For the increase in thickness, the variable feed,  $f_v$  was chosen to control the slope of the transient region. The feed per one strike for the variable feed is shown in Fig. 2.13. The feed starts with a minimum of 1 mm and the value increases until 7 mm. As the amount of feed increase, the contact area increases. As the contact area gets larger, the reduction in thickness reduces. Therefore the thickness of the sheet at the transient region was controlled.



Fig. 2.13. Feed per one strike for variable feed and  $f_v = 1$ , 1.5 and 3 mm.

The change in thickness for the variable feed is given in Fig. 2.14. The thickness at the transient region increases as the feed increases. A small increment in feed results in longer and gradual transient region. Whereas for a large increment in feed, the change in thickness becomes rapid. Therefore thickness in the transient region is controlled by variable feeding.



Fig. 2.14. Change in thickness for variable feed.

#### 2.4.3. Thickness distribution of tailored blank with feeding control

The feed was controlled to produce a tailored blank having a thickness distribution. To obtain a symmetrical transient region, for the decrease in thickness, f = 0.1 mm was chosen while for the increase in thickness, fv with increment of 1.5 mm was selected. The tailored blank with feed control by successive forging is shown in Fig. 2.15. Tool markings were observed on the surface of the tailored blank. These markings were formed due to the inclination of the upper punch at the bottom dead centre.



Fig. 2.15. Tailored blank with feeding control by successive forging.

The thickness distributions for tailored blank having three thicknesses with and without feeding control are given in Fig. 2.16. Without feeding control, the horizontal surface of 1 mm thickness was not achieved due to the long transient region at the decrease in thickness. With the control feeding, the thickness distribution is agreeable to the target thickness. For successive forging with feeding control, both of the transient regions were more symmetrical.



Fig. 2.16. Thickness distribution of tailored blank with feeding control.

The feed paths with and without control for tailored blank having three thicknesses are shown in Fig. 2.17. For the feed path with control, overshoot of the feeding reduces the gradual change of thickness of the transient region. In order to obtain a symmetrical thickness changes for both the transient regions, for the increase in thickness, the variable feeding,  $f_v$  was chosen.



Fig. 2.17. Feed paths with and without control for tailored blank having three thicknesses.

### **2.5.** Conclusions

Tailored blanks having distributions of thickness and strength are effective in reducing the weight of automobiles without compromising the passenger safety. Although tailored blanks are commonly produced by welding, flexibility of distributions of thickness and strength is lack because of the increase in weld length. Although tailored-rolled blanks have high flexibility of thickness distribution, the supply is still limited because the blanks are produced by special mills for controlling the roll gap during rolling.

The developed successive forging process can produce blanks similar to tailor rolling by means of presses. Owing to the simple control scheme of thickness, common mechanical presses repeating the same ram motion are available for the production. Only the feed is controlled to obtain a desired thickness by effective use of elastic deformation of a press and tools. The production becomes flexible, i.e. forming makers can produce the tailor-forged blanks and existing presses are reused.

### Chapter 3 Improvement of surface quality of tailor-forged blank produced by successive forging with optimised punch

### **3.1 Introduction**

The used of tailored blanks in car body in-white is important as car manufacturers are able to locate material with the best properties at the desired area precisely. Due to different strength requirement of the car body parts, the optimum thickness distribution is essential for the reduction in weight. Rather than increasing the thickness of the whole part, only a portion of the part is made thicker to increase the strength locally without increasing too much weight. Corners of stamped parts for example require higher strength to improve formability and prevent failure [33-35].

Although tailored blanks are useful in reducing the weight and improving the crash safety during a collision, the heterogeneity of materials and defect formation limit the ability and performance of the stamped parts. In tailor-welded blanks, the rough surface, imperfection and porosity of the weld metal reduce the ductility of the tailor-welded blanks [72, 73]. The weld line movement during forming due to different strength of materials decreases the formability and drawability [25, 74]. Tailor-rolled blanks on the other hand are produced without joining and therefore surface quality are improved. For the application in cold stamping, tailor-rolled blanks of different thicknesses have differing strength due to work hardening during rolling. Although successive forging have been employed to produce tailored blanks having a thickness distribution by adjusting the amount of feeding, the surface quality is problematic. The uneven surface profile of the tailor-forged blank induces stress concentration. During compression, the press ram is inclined by deflection of the press frame, and then markings are formed on the surface of the tailored blank.

In the present chapter, the punch shape was analysed to improve the tool marks formed on the surface of tailor-forged blanks. Tools for correcting inclination was also proposed to reduce the surface marking. The upper curved plate slides during compression to reduce the incline angle of the upper die.

### 3.2 Optimised punch shapes for successive forging of tailored blank

### 3.2.1 Finite element simulation of successive forging

Finite element simulation had been carried out to analyse the effect of punch shape on the deformation of tailor-forged blanks. The deformation behaviour and surface markings are calculated from the finite element simulation software ABAQUS. Two types of punch are chosen for this purpose. The punch shapes for optimisation is shown in Fig. 3.1. The chamfer punch has a sharp corner at the edges while the corner radius punch has round edges. The corner radius, *R* was varied from 1 mm to 5 mm while the chamfer is 1 mm. The upper and lower punches are treated as elastic and the coefficient of friction,  $\mu$  is 0.1. Table 3.1 shows the conditions used for finite element simulation for successive forging of tailored blanks.



Fig. 3.1 Punch shapes for optimisation in successive forging of tailored blank.

Software	ABAQUS		
Coefficient of friction	Upper punch and sheet : 0.1		
	Lower punch and sheet : 0.1		
Punch	Elastic body		
Sheet	Elasto-plastic body		
	Young's modulus 210 GPa		
	Poisson's ratio 0.3		

Table 3.1 Conditions used for finite element simulation for successive forging of tailored blank.

The model of the finite element is shown in Fig. 3.2. Since successive forging involves feeding the sheet, two compression were carried out. The feeding was f=5 mm. In this case, the sheet is made stationary while two sets of upper and lower punches were built to compress the sheet. To perform the feeding without moving the sheet, the second pair of punch were positioned 5 mm apart from the first pair. The thickness of the blank was 1.6 mm.



Fig. 3.2 Finite element model for successive forging of tailored blank.

The blank deformation and tool marks for different punches are shown in Fig. 3.3. In the first compression, the blank deformation is sharp with chamfer punch. However as with the corner radius punch, the blank deformation is gradual. As the radius of the punch increases, the change in thickness between the compressed and non-compressed area becomes more gradual. The tool mark was large for chamfer punch. Comparing between chamfer punch and corner radius punch of 5 mm, the tool marks reduces with the corner radius punch.



Fig. 3.3 Blank deformation and marking depth for different punches.

The relationship between tool marking depth and the punch radius is given in Fig. 3.4. For chamfer punch, the sharp edges causes tool marks of almost 0.012 mm. However as the punch radius increases, the tool marks decreases. For all the corner radius punch, the tool marking depth is almost constant. Therefore, a corner radius punch shows a better

surface profile as compared to the chamfer punch. The length of the punch radius shows only a small effects on the tool marks.



Fig. 3.4 Relationship between tool marking depth and punch radius for f = 5mm.

### **3.2.2 Experiment result**

A successive forging process was carried with the corner punch radius to observe the tool marks formation. A corner punch radius of 1 mm was chosen to forge the blank with a constant feeding of 5 mm. The stroke was 2.1 mm. The surface profile of tailored blank for f = 5 mm are given in Fig. 3.5. However as compared to the calculation result, a large tool marks were observed with the corner radius punch. The large tool marks are caused by the elastic deformation of the press and tools during forging.



Fig. 3.5 Surface profile of tailored blanks for f = 5 mm with corner punch radius of 1 mm.

# **3.3 Improvement of surface quality of tailor-forged blank by tools for correcting inclination**

The C-frame of the press deflects due to elastic deformation during successive forging, and the upper punch is inclined by elastic deformation (see Fig. 3.6(a)). The tool marks appearing on the surface of tailored blank shown in Fig. 3.5 were caused by repeated forging with the inclined bottom of the upper punch. To prevent the tool marks, concave and convex plates were inserted into the C-frame as shown in Fig. 3.6(b). The curved plate slid during compression, hence the inclination of the upper punch was reduced. Since the inclination was reduced, the contact area and forging load were increased to 2.4 mm for correcting inclination tools.



Fig. 3.6 Dies (a) without and (b) with tools for correcting inclination in successive forging.

The die for correcting the incline in successive forging of tailored blank having a thickness distribution is shown in Fig. 3.7. The convex and concave plates having a radius of 450 mm were added between the upper and middle base plates. Springs were used to return the upper punch to its original position after each compression. A feeder was utilised to move the sheet into the compression region after each compression. 22MnB5 boron steel sheets having a thickness of 1.6 mm were used. The length and width of the sheet were 400 mm and 100 mm, respectively.

Chapter 3 Improvement of surface quality of tailor-forged blank produced by successive forging with optimised punch



Fig. 3.7 Die for correcting incline in successive forging of tailored blank having thickness distribution.

The misalignment of the upper punch from the lower punch with and without tools for correcting inclination at the bottom dead centre is shown in Fig. 3.8. The stroke was 2.4 mm for both conditions. A corner radius punch of R = 1 mm was utilised. Without the incline correction, due to the incline of the press slide, there is a large misalignment of the upper punch from the lower punch. While with the incline correction on the other hand, the misalignment is small due to the small incline of the upper punch.



Fig. 3.8. Misalignment of upper punch from lower punch (a) without and (b) with tools for correcting inclination at bottom dead centre.

Fig. 3.9 illustrates the contact area between the upper punch and sheet during compression with and without the tools for correcting inclination. Comparing between both conditions, the contact area without the incline correction is smaller due to the inclination of the upper punch. Since the contact area is larger with the incline correcting die, the forging load increases.



Fig. 3.9 Contact area between upper die and sheet during compression with and without incline correction.

With the inclination correction, the steady-state thickness t of the compressed blank is amended from Eq. (2.1) by

 $t = 0.045f + 0.97 \text{ mm.} \tag{3.1}$ 

# **3.4 Surface quality for different punch shapes with tools for correcting inclination**

### 3.4.1 Small corner punch radius

Fig. 3.10 shows the surface profile of tailored blanks with and without the incline correction for feeding 5 mm. A corner radius punch of R = 1 mm was employed. Without

the incline correction, the surface marking depth is 0.06 mm. The large surface marking was reduced to 0.004 mm with the incline correction. A smoother surface was obtained. The experimental result with the tools for correcting inclination and a corner punch radius agrees with the calculated results.



Fig. 3.10 Surface profile of tailored blanks with and without incline correction for feeding 5 mm with corner punch radius of R = 1 mm.

The reflected lines on the surface of the tailored blank with and without the incline correction are shown in Fig. 3.11. The feeding was 5 mm and the corner radius punch of 1 mm was utilised. The straight lines were drawn on a piece of paper and then reflected on the tailored blank surface. Without incline correction, the reflected lines were interrupted by the tool marks. On the other hand, with incline correction, the smooth reflected lines were observed. The tool marks of the tailor-forged blank with incline correction were reduced.



Fig. 3.11. Surfaces of tailored blank (a) without and (b) with incline correction for f = 5 mm.

### 3.4.2 Large corner punch radius

Since the calculated results show a small change in tool marking depth for different corner radius punches, a successive forging process was carried out with a corner radius punch of R = 3 mm to observe the tool marks formation. Fig 3.12 shows the surface profile of tailored blanks with tools for correcting inclination for feeding 5 mm with a corner radius punch of R = 3 mm. The surface profile of tailored blanks forged with a corner radius punch of R = 3 mm shows a marking depth of 0.006 mm. The tool marks formed using corner radius punches of R = 1 and 3 mm show a small difference.



Fig. 3.12 Surface profile of tailored blanks with incline correction for feeding 5 mm with corner radius punch of R = 3 mm.

### 3.4.3 Chamfer punch

The surface profile of tailored blanks with incline correction for feeding 5 mm with a chamfer punch of 1 mm is given in Fig. 3.13. Although tools for correcting inclination was used, large tool marks were observed. The chamfer punch having a sharp edge at the corners produced a sharp change in the thickness as shown in Fig. 3.3.



Fig. 3.13 Surface profile of tailored blanks with incline correction for feeding 5 mm with chamfer punch of 1 mm.

### **3.5 Conclusions**

Automobile parts do not only need to have high dimension and shape accuracy but a good surface quality is essential. Although tailor blanks have been produced by successive forging, the surface quality deteriorates due to the tool marks formed during compression. The tool marks cause an uneven surface on the tailored blank which increase the stress concentration and reduce the formability. During successive forging, the press ram is inclined by deflection of the press frame and tool marks are formed.

Improvement of the surface quality for tailor-forged blank produced by successive forging for hot stamping was carried out. The die without incline correction produced tailored blank having thickness distribution with surface markings due to upper punch inclination. Corner radius punch improved the surface quality as compared to the chamfer punch. Tools for correcting inclination were proposed by inserting convex and concave plates into the C-frame. During compression, the plate slid and the upper punch inclination was reduced. With the tools for correcting inclination, the misalignment of the upper punch from the lower punch was reduced and the surface quality was improved. Since the upper punch inclination was reduced, the tools for correcting inclination require a larger load to produce a sheet with the same thickness due to the larger contact area.

## Chapter 4 Hot stamping of roof rail from tailored blank having thickness distribution

### **4.1. Introduction**

One of the challenges faced by car makers is the demand of lighter car with high safety standards. Lightweight metals such aluminium and magnesium alloys have been applied to achieve these requirements. Although these metals greatly reduce the weight of the car body part, low formability and higher cost as compared to steel has limited the application. The used of steel in automobile body structure increases due to its high strength and durability. Ultra-high strength steels of tensile strength exceeding 980 MPa are used on bumper beams, B-pillars, etc. where high strength is needed for optimum performance. The needs of local reinforcement in mild steel is eliminated with the high strength steels. Therefore, the strength of a part is improved without extra material.

Although high strength steel is favourable, stamping is not easy and formability is small. Large forming load and springback are some problems with high strength steels. Hot stamping has been developed to overcome these difficulties in forming high strength steels. By heating the sheet, the flow stress decreases leading to better formability and improve of springback. A 22MnB5 quenchable steel is vulnerable to surface oxidation when heating at 950°C [17]. Steel makers have introduced a pre-coated quenchable steel with Al-Si layer as a prevention from oxidation during hot stamping [46].

A B-pillar for example requires for a balance of ductility and strength to increase the energy absorption and passenger protection during an impact [57]. Local heating and cooling of high strength steel produces stamped parts having a strength distribution in a tailoring in hot stamping process [58, 59]. Although the energy absorption of automobiles during collision is improved, the thickness distribution of products effective for the

weight reduction is not optimised. Therefore, tailored blanks are hot stamped to produce parts having thickness and strength distributions.

In the present study, a miniature of roof rail panel having a thickness distribution was hot-stamped from a successive-forged tailored blank. The blank was successively forged into a tailored blanks having two thicknesses. An Al-Si coated quenchable steel was employed to observe the coating behaviour after successive forging and hot stamping.

# **4.2.** Procedure of hot stamping of roof rail from tailored blank having two thicknesses

A tailored blank having two thicknesses was produced by successive forging. The tailored blank was made from an Al-Si coated quenchable steel sheet of 1.6 mm in thickness. The length and width of the blank were 400 mm and 100 mm, respectively. The chemical compositions of the quenchable steel sheet are given in Table 4.1. The tailored blank was hot-stamped into the miniature of roof rail. The shape and dimension of the tailored blank and hot-stamped roof rail miniature are illustrated in Fig. 4.1.

С	Si	Mn	Al	В	Ti	Cr
0.23	0.27	1.22	0.04	0.0032	0.0037	0.2

Table 4.1 Chemical composition of Al-Si coated quenchable steel [%].





Fig. 4.1. Dimension of (a) tailored blank and (b) hot-stamped rail roof.

Fig 4.2 shows the process of producing a miniature of roof rail panel having a thickness distribution by hot stamping. A uniform thickness blank was successively forged into tailored blank having two thicknesses. Prior to the stamping process, the tailored blank was heated in an electric furnace to an austenitising temperature of 910°C for 240 seconds. The blank was then transferred by hand to the lower die in 5 seconds. The blank was formed and quenched simultaneously with dies to form a part strengthened by martensitic transformation. The tailored blank was hold within the dies at the bottom dead centre for 10 seconds. The die shape was manufactured to have different thickness distributions to cater for the thickness of the tailor-forged blank.



Fig. 4.2. Hot stamping of roof rail miniature from tailor-forged blank having thickness distribution.

## 4.3. Hot stamping of roof rail from Al-Si coated quenchable steel tailored blank

### 4.3.1 Shape and geometry

The thickness distributions of hot-stamped roof rail miniatures from the tailored blank and uniform thickness blank are given in Fig. 4.3. The roof rail having thickness distribution was successively forged for constant feeding of f = 0.5 mm to obtain a reduction of 38% at the steady-state thickness. The edges of the tailored blank was compressed while the centre portion was not compressed. The thickness was measured along the two lines in the longitudinal direction 20 mm apart from the centre line of the blank, and the average of the measured values is shown. The thickness distributions of the two compressed regions are different. In the front compressed region between x = 0 and 75 mm, the thickness is almost uniform, non-steady-state deformation appears in the rear compressed region between x = 185 and 260 mm. For a comparison, hot stamping of a roof rail made of a blank having uniform thickness was carried out.



Fig. 4.3. Thickness distributions of hot-stamped roof rail miniatures from tailored blank and uniform thickness blank.

The roof rail miniatures of tailored blank and uniform thickness blank are shown in Fig. 4.4(a) and (b), respectively. The curvature of tailor-forged blank was reduced after the hot stamping process. The shapes of the roof rail miniatures of the tailored blank and uniform thickness blanks showed no significant different. The cross-sections of the roof rail miniatures are shown in Fig. 4.4(c). The surface for both of the roof rail miniatures shows no oxide scale formation.



Fig. 4.4. Roof rail miniatures of (a) tailored blank and (b) uniform thickness blank and (c) cross-sections of roof rail miniatures.

Due to different deformation of the tailored blank during successive forging, large curvature was formed. The height of upper surface of tailored blanks before and after hot stamping was measured to investigate the reduction of the curvature. The height distributions of tailored-forged blanks before and after the hot stamping process are given in Fig. 4.5. Although a large curvature was observed from the tailored blank after the successive forging, the curvature was eliminated by hot stamping.



Fig. 4.5. Distribution of difference of height of upper surface in longitudinal direction before and after hot stamping.

Fig. 4.6 shows the weight for the roof rail miniatures of tailored blank and uniform thickness blank. The tailored blank roof rail has a smaller weight with a reduction of 20% from the uniform thickness roof rail.






Fig. 4.6 Weight for roof rail miniatures of tailored blank and uniform thickness blank.

#### 4.3.2 Surface coating

Since the Al-Si coating is effective in preventing occurrence of oxide scale during hot stamping, the effects of compression and heating on the Al-Si coating were investigated. The cross-sections of the tailor-forged blank with and without compression are shown in Fig. 4.7. Even after successive forging, the coating layer remains intact on the surface of the tailored blank. The compressed area of 1 mm thickness has a thinner coating as compared to that of the non-compressed area of 1.6 mm (see Fig. 4.7(a)). The thickness of the coating increased for both of the compressed and non-compressed areas after the hot stamping process (see Fig. 4.7(b)). During heating of tailored blank, iron was diffused into the coating, and hence the coating thickness increased. Since the Al-Si coating was not damaged by the forging process, oxide scale formation was prevented during hot stamping.



Fig. 4.7. Cross-sections of tailor-forged blank with and without compression (a) before and (b) after hot stamping.

#### 4.3.3 Hardness

The distributions of Vickers hardness of tailored blanks before and after hot stamping are given in Fig. 4.8. For the compressed area of thickness 1.0 mm, the hardness is larger than that of the non-compressed area. Work hardening due to large reduction in thickness increases the strength at the thin area. The original hardness of the sheet was 195 HV20, and the hardness of the compressed area was increased to 250 HV20 by work-hardening.

The hardness of the tailored blank was significantly increased by hot stamping, and both hardnesses of the compressed and non-compressed areas were almost 460 HV20. Using tailored-forged blanks, hot-stamped parts have not only high strength but also reduced weight.



Fig. 4.8. Distributions of Vickers hardness of tailored blank before and after hot stamping.

# 4.4. Hot stamping of roof rail from non-coated 22MnB5 steel tailored blank

#### 4.4.1 Shape and geometry

A hot stamping of roof rail from 22MnB5 boron steel tailored blank was carried out. The 22MnB5 blank was successively forged into tailored blanks having two thicknesses. The thickness, length and width of the blanks was 1.6 mm, 400 mm and 100 mm respectively. Fig 4.9 (a) shows the tailor blank having a thickness distribution after successive forging. Fig 4.9 (b) and (c) show the miniatures of roof rail from tailored blank and uniform thickness blank after hot stamping, respectively.



(c) Roof rail from uniform thickness blank

Fig 4.9 Tailor blank and miniatures of roof rail from 22MnB5 tailored and uniform thickness blanks.

Fig 4.10 shows the thickness distribution of hot-stamped roof rail miniatures from tailored blank and uniform thickness blank from 22MnB5 steel. The uniform thickness

blank was not forged while the tailored blank was successively forged at the middle portion. The feeding control was applied on the transient for increasing and decreasing thicknesses to obtain a symmetrical transient region. At the beginning of the compression, the thickness reduced gradually, followed by a constant thickness of 1 mm. The increasing in thickness at the transient region shows a gradual change in thickness.



Distance from roof rail edge x [mm]



The feed per one strike was controlled to obtain a tailor-forged blank having a thickness distribution. The feed per one strike used for producing this tailored blank is shown in Fig. 4.11. For the decrease in thickness in the transient region, constant feeding f = 0.5 mm was employed. For the increase in thickness, the variable feed,  $f_v$  of increment of 1 mm was chosen. With the control of feeding, both of the transient region were more symmetrical.



Fig. 4.11 Feeding control for 22MnB5 tailored blank having two thicknesses.

The surface of miniatures of roof rail from 22MnB5 and Al-Si coated quenchable steel are given in Fig. 4.12. Remarkable oxide scales were observed on the surface of the 22MnB5. However the protective layer of Al-Si prevented the formation of oxide scale and hence a good surface was obtained.



(a) Non-coated quenchable steel (b) Al-Si coated quenchable Fig. 4.12 Surface of miniatures of roof rail from different materials.

#### 4.4.2 Bending test

A three-point bending test was conducted to analyse the mechanical properties of the miniatures of roof rail. The roof rails were located on two supports and was subjected to load at the centre. The relationship between bending load and stroke for 22MnB5 roof rail miniatures of tailored blank and uniform thickness blank is given in Fig. 4.13. The maximum load before failure for the tailored blank is smaller than that of the uniform one due to the smaller thickness at the centre portion. The weight of the miniature of roof rail from the tailored blank reduces almost up to 30%.





Fig. 4.13 Relationship between bending load and stroke for 22MnB5 roof rail miniatures of tailored blank and uniform thickness blank.

#### **4.5.** Conclusions

Hot stamping is effective in forming high strength steel. By heating the blank, not only the load is reduced but the formability is improved and springback is minimised. Generally whole body of the stamped part are heated and die-quenched with dies, hence the entire body is high strength. Tailoring in hot stamping is useful in controlling the strength distribution of a hot-stamped part. Although parts having combination of ductility and strength are produced by local heating and cooling, the weight is not optimised. Therefore hot-stamping of tailored blanks is important in producing stamped parts having a strength distribution with controlled thickness distribution to increase the weight saving.

Tailored blank having a thickness distribution was hot-stamped into a miniature of roof rail. The thickness of the tailored blank was controlled by adjusting the amount of feeding in a successive forging process. Although the strength of the thin area increases by work hardening, the strength of the thick and thin areas increases significantly after hot stamping, eliminating the contrary strength distribution. The Al-Si coating are preserved during successive forging and hence formation of oxide scale is prevented during hot stamping. With the tailored blank having an optimum thickness distribution, the weight of the part is reduced without decreasing the strength.

# Chapter 5 Local thickening of aluminium and SPCC sheets by beading and compression

### **5.1. Introduction**

The use of tailored blanks having different thicknesses and materials increases in the automotive industry for the construction of body in white components of a car due to the reduction in weight. Tailored blanks locate the right material at the right place to ensure optimum performance of the stamped part. Parts having local thickening are produced to increase the strength, compensate thinning and prevent rupture during stamping [33-35, 75, 76]. Patchwork blanks for example are produced by overlapping smaller blanks on the main blank before stamping [21]. The blanks are joined by laser welding. The addition of thickness at a desired area increases the strength locally. However the sudden change in thickness increases the stress concentration. Forming patchwork blank having multi thicknesses is difficult as compared to a uniform thickness blank.

Although tailored blanks are mainly produced by joining sheets of different thicknesses, tailored blanks having a thickness distribution are also produced by a rolling process. In this process, the thickness is reduced by changing the rolls gap [27, 28, 32]. Although tailor-rolled blanks reduce the stress concentration by eliminating the sudden change in thickness, the portion of large reduction in thickness is work-hardened [31, 77]. However, the strength required for the thin portion is small, whereas the strength is increased by work-hardening.

In the present chapter, forging of sheet having local thickening by beading and compression was proposed. In this two stage thickening process, the portion requiring high strength is beaded and compressed to form a local increase in thickness. Since the compressed region is work hardened, the strength increases. The produced tailored blank has high and low strengths for the thick and thin portions, respectively.

## 5.2. Approach of local thickening by bending and compression

A sheet forging process consists of beading and compression shown in Fig. 5.1 was developed. The centre portion of the sheet was beaded and compressed to form local thickening. In the 1st stage, the width of the sheet was reduced from the beading process. The beading die heights were varied to control the amount of local thickening. During the 2nd stage, the width of the blank was confined while the beaded portion are compressed to obtain a local thickening at the centre portion of the blank. The thick part possess higher strength as compared to the thin part due to the work hardening during compression.



Fig. 5.1 Sheet having local thickening by beading and compression.

The experimental setup for sheet having local thickening by beading and compression is illustrated in Fig. 5.2. In the beading stage, the blank having a uniform thickness was beaded freely by a punch. The sheet width decreased during the beading process. In the compression stage (see Fig. 5.2(b)), the flanges of the blank were restricted with the die. Springs were attached onto the blank holders. The blank holders clamped both the flanges of the sheet to prevent wrinkling. The punch then compressed the beaded area to obtain thickening. The floating die was supported by two springs. These springs pushed the floating die up after compression to ease the sheet removal. No change in the sheet width occurred during compression.



(a) 1st stage for beauting (b) 2nd stage for compression

Fig. 5.2. Experimental setup for sheet having local thickening by beading and compression.

The beading and compression dies dimension is given in Fig. 5.3. The punches and dies were made of SKD11. The beading die height, h was varied between 3 and 8 mm to

investigate the effect of the beaded height on the local thickening formed. Three types of beading die were used as shown in Fig. 5.3(b). The angles of the beading die,  $\alpha$  were 90°, 120° and 180°. The corners of the beading die have a radius of 2 mm. The confined area of the compression die was 100 mm (see Fig. 5.3 (c)).



(c) Compression die

Fig. 5.3. Beading and compression dies dimension.

Conditions used for sheet forging of aluminium A1050 and SPCC sheets are given in Table 5.1. The thicknesses of the aluminium sheet were 0.5, 1.0 and 1.5 mm while SPCC sheet were 0.5 and 1.0 mm. Since the beading height was varies, the sheet widths were set to 101.0, 10.3.5 and 108.5 mm to obtain a constant sheet width of 100 mm after the beading process. The sheet length is the same for all condition which is 50 mm. No lubricant was applied in the thickening process.

Material	Aluminium A1050	SPCC	
Tensile strength [MPa]	105	334	
Hardness [Hv]	31	95	
Sheet thickness <i>t</i> [mm]	0.5, 1.0, 1.5	0.5, 1.0	
Sheet length [mm]	50		
Sheet width [mm]	101.0	103.5	108.5
Beading die height h [mm]	3	5	8

Table 5.1 Conditions used for sheet forging of aluminium A1050 and SPCC sheets.

# 5.3. Results of local thickening of aluminium sheet

## 5.3.1 Thickening behaviour

Fig. 5.4 shows the aluminium sheet deformation after beading and compression for different beading heights with a beading die  $\alpha = 180^{\circ}$ . The thickness of the sheet was 1.0 mm. As the beading die height increases, the beaded portion increases. Local thickening was observed for beading height of 3 and 5 mm. However for beading height of 8 mm, folding of the sheet occur instead of thickening.



Fig. 5.4 Aluminium sheet deformation after beading and compression for different beading heights with beading die  $\alpha = 180^{\circ}$ .

The thickening behaviour of aluminium sheets was observed to investigate the formation of local thickening and folding during beading and compression. Fig. 5.5 shows the thickening behaviour for aluminium sheets having a thickness of 1.5 mm and beading heights of 5 and 8 mm. The beading die of  $\alpha = 180^{\circ}$  was utilised. The cross-sections of the sheet was taken at different punch strokes. For a beading height 5 mm, the sidewall was inclined and local thickening formed at the beaded portion. However as for beading height 8 mm, both sidewalls of the beaded portion were almost vertical as compared to the beading height 5 mm. Therefore folding was observed.



Chapter 5 Local thickening of aluminium and SPCC sheets by beading and compression

Fig. 5.5 Thickening behaviour for aluminium sheets having thickness of 1.5 mm and beading heights of 5 and 8 mm with beading die of  $\alpha = 180^{\circ}$ .

#### 5.3.2 Thickness distribution

The cross-sections of the local thickening area after beading and compression with beading die  $\alpha = 180^{\circ}$  are given in Fig. 5.6. The thickness of the sheet was 0.5 and 1.0 mm. No crack was observed on the cross-section of the sheet for beading height 5 mm. The thickening region shows an increase in thickness as compared to the original thickness for beading height 5 mm. Since the beaded portion is restricted to 20 mm width, the formation of thickening has almost at the same width. The increase in thickness for beading height 3 mm and 5 mm for sheet thickness 1.0 mm were 9% and 25%. As for the beading height 8 mm, folding was observed.



*h* =8 mm, *t* =1.0 mm

Fig. 5.6 Cross-sections of local thickening area after beading and compression with beading die  $\alpha = 180^{\circ}$ .

The thickness distribution for aluminium sheets with beading height of 3 mm before and after the local thickening process is shown in Fig 5.7. The thicknesses of the sheet before beading, after beading and after compression are compared. The original sheet shows a uniform thickness distribution. Since the sheet was beaded freely without blank holder, the thickness distribution shows no thinning occur at the beaded portion after the beading process. After the compression, thickening was formed with a peak thickness at the centre of the sheet.



Fig. 5.7 Thickness distribution for aluminium sheet with beading height of 3 mm.

# 5.4 Effect of die angle on local thickening of SPCC sheets

Since folding was formed instead of thickening for the beading height 8 mm, the beading die angle was analysed. From Fig. 5.5, the sidewalls of the beaded portion was almost vertical for a beading angle,  $\alpha = 180^{\circ}$ . To prevent right angle of sidewalls, the angle of the beaded die was reduced. The effect of beading die angle on the SPCC sheet deformation behaviour is shown in Fig. 5.8. For a large beading height of 8 mm, local thickening was achieved with the beading die angle,  $\alpha = 90^{\circ}$ . As the beading die angle increases, folding was formed.



Fig. 5.8 Effect of beading die angle on local thickening of SPCC sheet.

The thickening behaviour of SPCC sheets for beading die angle of 90° and 120° are shown in Fig 5.9. The thickness of the sheet was 1.0 mm and the beading height was 8 mm. The deformation of the sheets was observed at different punch strokes. For beading die angle of 90°, inclined sidewalls was formed. The sidewalls decrease as the punch stroke increases, and hence local thickening was observed. As for beading die angle of 120°, a dome-like shape beaded portion was observed. At punch stroke 3mm, sidewalls of the beaded area reduced and became almost vertical, producing fold of the sidewall.



Chapter 5 Local thickening of aluminium and SPCC sheets by beading and compression

Fig. 5.9 Thickening behaviour of SPCC sheets for beading die angle of 120° and 180°.

Fig 5.10 shows the relationships between the thickness distribution and the distance from sheet edge, and between the strength distribution and the distance from sheet edge. The thickness of the sheet was 1.0 mm. The beading die was varied between 3 mm to 8 mm. The beaded portion was formed with a beading die of angle 90°. The estimated strength of the material was calculated from the hardness values obtained at the cross-section of the SPCC sheet. As the amount of local thickness increases, the hardness and strength of the sheet increase.



Fig. 5.10 Relationships between thickness distribution and distance from sheet edge, and between strength distribution and distance from sheet edge.

# 5.5 Comparison of local thickening between Aluminium and SPCC sheets

Fig. 5.11 shows the maximum change in thickness for aluminium and SPCC sheets. The forging of sheet having local thickening using beading and compression was conducted for sheet having thickness of 1 mm. Comparing between beading die angles,  $\alpha = 180^{\circ}$  produced the largest local thickening for beading heights 3 and 5 mm due to a large beading portion. However for a beading height 8 mm, local thickening could not be achieved with beading die angles  $120^{\circ}$  and  $180^{\circ}$ . A small angle beading die of  $90^{\circ}$  managed to produce local thickening with 45% increase in thickness for both aluminium and SPCC.



Fig. 5.11 Maximum change in thickness for aluminium and SPCC sheets by beading and compression.

### **5.6 Conclusions**

Tailored blanks having an optimum thickness distribution are essential in producing lighter cars. Reinforcement is done only at the desired area where strength is needed without increasing the overall thickness of a part. Tailor blanks are generally produced by welding and rolling. Since welding involves joining of blanks, the process is difficult for parts requiring multi-thicknesses. Tailored blanks without joining are produced by rolling. Although tailor-rolled blanks have high thickness flexibility and formability, a large reduction in thickness during rolling increases the strength of the blank. The produced parts form tailor-rolled blanks have an opposite strength distribution.

Sheet forging having local thickening was successfully carried out by beading and compression. During beading, the beaded portion was formed without blank holders, hence thinning does not occur. In the compression stage, the width of the sheet was restricted to allow thickening to form at the beaded portion. The amount of the thickening increases with the beading height. For a small beading height, beading die 180° produces larger local thickening as compared to beading die 90° and 120°. For a large beading height, beading die 90° produces sheet having local thickening without folding. The local portion of large thickness have higher strength while the thin parts have lower strength.

# Chapter 6 Successive forging of aluminium and stainless steel long sheets having inclined cross-section

### **6.1. Introduction**

In electrical industry, blades for cleaning and regulating toners used in laser beam printers are made from long sheets having an inclined cross-section. Long sheets having an inclined cross-section are generally produced by cutting, however the material loss is problematic. Rolling process has been applied to produce long sheet having uniform cross-sections. For thin walled structures, the long sheets are subjected to buckling, wrinkling and flatness defect during rolling due to heterogeneous elongation along the strip [78-80]. Rolling non-uniform cross-section on the other hand produces parts having large curvature and wrinkling due to non-uniform reduction in thickness. It is desirable in electrical industry to develop a forming process of long sheets having an inclined cross-section with good accuracy and defect free to ensure optimum printing performance.

Extrusion process has been employed to produce long products having a complex cross-section. The metal bar is being forced into a die of a desired cross-section and parts having a new cross-section are produced. During direct extrusion, the slide between metals and container wall causes an increase in the friction, temperature and extrusion force [81-83]. Generally, aluminium alloy bar are extruded into various complicated cross-section. Stainless steel bars on the other hand are not extruded because of high heating temperatures.

Plate forging is widely used in metal forming industries to form plates having a thin cross-section into various shapes and thicknesses. Complex automobile components such

as gear parts are being produced by plate forging. In this process, the forming load becomes high due to the large frictional restraint [37, 39]. For long parts, the forming load greatly increases for large deforming area.

In this study, a successive forging process of long sheets having an inclined crosssection was developed. Since the deforming area is small for a small forging interval, the forging load reduces. The effects of the punch shapes and forging intervals on the forging load, sheet waving and curvature were examined. The final publication of this study is available at Elsevier via http://dx.doi.org/ doi:10.1016/j.proeng.2014.10.334.

# 6.2. Approach of successive forging of aluminium and stainless steel long sheets

A successive forging process illustrated in Fig. 6.1 was developed to produce a long sheet having an inclined cross-section. The long sheet is move into the compression region with a feeder. The sheet is then compressed with a punch to form an inclined cross-section. The sheet is moved again for the next compression with the same forging interval. These steps are repeated until the desired compression length is achieved.



Fig. 6.1 Steps in successive forging of long sheet having inclined cross-section.

The experimental setup for successive forging of long sheet having an inclined crosssection is shown in Fig. 6.2. A 1500 kN mechanical servo press was employed. A feeder machine allows the feeding of the material with specific forging interval. An exit guide consist of an upper guide prevents the forged sheet form curving up while the side guide minimizes the curvature of the forged sheet. The entrance guide is used to align the sheet into the compression region.



Fig. 6.2 Experimental setup for successive forging of long sheet having inclined crosssection.

Two types of inclined punch were used in this experiment to investigate the effect of the punch shapes on the sheet having an inclined cross-section. The flat and taper bottom punches are shown in Fig. 6.3 (a) and (b), respectively. Both of the punches have a surface inclination of  $5.7^{\circ}$  that will give the sheet an inclined cross-section. The taper bottom punch has a  $5^{\circ}$  inclination and a 6 mm of a straight horizontal surface while the flat bottom punch has a flat surface of 33 mm.



Fig. 6.3 Dimensions of flat and taper bottom inclined punches.

Two types of sheets were used in the experiment which are aluminium A1050 and stainless steel SUS430. The condition of sheets used for the experiment is shown in Table 6.1. The forging interval was varied to investigate its effect on the forging load and sheet deformation behaviour. The forging condition used for the experiment of successive forging is given in Table 6.2.

Table 6.1 Sheets used for experiment of successive forging.

Sheet	Hardness	Thickness t	width	length
	[HV 0.05]	[mm]	[mm]	[mm]
Aluminium A1050	31.3	2.0, 3.0	8	500
Stainless steel	122	19	8	500
SUS430		1.7		500

Conditions	Aluminium	Stainless steel
Conditions	A1050	SUS430
Forging interval <i>f</i> [mm]	3, 5, 10, 20	1, 3, 5
Amount of feed [mm]	200	200
Average punch speed [mm/s]	20	20
Reduction in thickness at punch tip [mm]	1.2	1.1

Table 6.2 Forging condition used for experiment of successive forging.

# **6.3.** Results of successive forging of long sheet

#### 6.3.1 Aluminium sheet having inclined cross-section

The long sheet having an inclined cross-section was successively forged with the flat and taper bottom punches for t = 3 mm and f = 5 mm (see Fig. 6.4). Without the exit guide, the curvature of the sheets is remarkable. For the flat bottom punch, waving on the sheet sides and depression on the sheet surface occurred. The waving and depression were prevented with the taper bottom punch.



Fig. 6.4 Long sheet having inclined cross-section for t = 3 mm and f = 5 mm.

The curvature of the forged sheet was large because of the different deformation rate of the sheet during compression. The relationship between forging interval and radius of curvature is shown in Fig. 6.5. The radius of curvature increases with the increase of forging interval.



Fig. 6.5 Relationship between forging interval and radius of curvature.

A side guide was introduced to prevent the side curvature of the forged sheet. The distance between the sheet and the side guide was 3 mm. Fig. 6.6 shows the forged sheets having an inclined cross-section with the exit guide and taper bottom punch. The curvature of the forged sheet having an inclined cross-section was reduced. For a small forging interval of 3 mm, the reduction in thickness was larger than that of 5 mm.

Chapter 6 Successive forging of aluminium and stainless steel long sheets having inclined cross-section



(a) t=2 mm, f=3 mm (b) t=2 mm, f=5 mm



The degree of waving was defined as an average difference between the widths ( $W_1$ - $W_2$ ), where  $W_1$  is the maximum width and  $W_2$  is the minimum width in each 10 intervals of the forged sheet. Fig. 6.7 shows the relationship between the average width difference and the forging interval for the two punches. The width difference was reduced with the tapered punch and the small forging interval. The waving defect was reduced.

Chapter 6 Successive forging of aluminium and stainless steel long sheets having inclined cross-section



Fig. 6.7 Relationship between the average width difference and forging interval for two punches.

Fig. 6.8 shows the relationship between the elongation in the longitudinal direction and the forging interval for the two punches. As the forging interval decreases, the elongation of the compressed sheet increases. The change in the width is small as compared to the length due to the large width-to-length ratio of the punch.

Chapter 6 Successive forging of aluminium and stainless steel long sheets having inclined cross-section



Fig. 6.8 Relationship between elongation in longitudinal direction and forging interval for two punches.

In successive forging, the forging load is comparatively small due to repeated local deformation of the sheet. The relationship between forging load and forging interval for two punches is given in Fig. 6.9. The forging load becomes small with the decrease in the forging interval with the flat and taper bottom punches. For the taper bottom punch, the forging load is smaller as compared to the straight punch. Since the forging load decreases with the decrease in forging interval, small mechanical presses conventionally used in forming industry can be used for a small forging interval.

Chapter 6 Successive forging of aluminium and stainless steel long sheets having inclined cross-section



Fig. 6.9 Relationship between forging load and forging interval for two punches.

The relationship between reduction in thickness and forging interval is given in Fig. 6.10. The reduction in thickness of the sheet having an inclined cross-section increases with the decrease of forging interval. For a small forging interval, the load required is smaller as compared to a large forging interval. Therefore the elastic deformation of the press and tools is small and hence the reduction in thickness is large. For a large forging interval, the large load causes a large elastic deformation and hence the reduction in thickness is small.



Fig. 6.10 Relationship between reduction in thickness and forging interval for two punches.

#### 6.3.2 Stainless steel sheet having inclined cross-section

The successive forging process of stainless steel sheets with a taper bottom punch and an exit guide was carried out. The forging intervals were 1, 3 and 5 mm. Fig. 6.11 shows the stainless steel sheets having an inclined cross-section for different forging intervals. The sheets showed minimum waving and depression. However, a slight curvature formed on these sheets. For the stainless steel sheet with a forging interval of 1 mm, a burr formed on one side of the sheet as shown in Fig. 6.11(a).



Fig. 6.11 Stainless steel sheets having an inclined cross-section for (a) f = 1 mm, (b) f = 3 mm and (c) f = 5 mm.

Forging the sheet with a very small forging interval (f = 1 mm) will cause a large sheet curvature. The sheet curved towards the side guide and shifted away from the forging area. As the sheet shifted out, the burr was formed during the compression process. The burr formation on the side of stainless steel sheet having an inclined cross-section is illustrated in Fig. 6.12.


Fig. 6.12 Burr formation on side of stainless steel sheet having inclined cross-section.

### 6.4. Prevention of side curvature and burr by grooved die

The deformation behaviour of the aluminium and stainless steel sheets with the exit guide have been examined. Even though the side guide reduces the curvature of the forged sheet having an inclined cross-section, the sheets formed a burr for a forging interval of 1 mm and a slight curvature. To overcome these problems, a grooved die was introduced. The grooved die is shown in Fig. 6.13 (a). This die has a grooved width of 10.5 mm. The taper bottom punch and the upper guide were employed as shown in Fig. 6.13 (b).



Fig. 6.13 (a) Grooved die for preventing curvature of formed sheet and (b) experimental setup with grooved die.

The resulted stainless steel sheets having an inclined cross-section are shown in Fig. 6.14. For the forging intervals of 3 mm and 5 mm, the curvature of the sheets was further reduced. Since the taper bottom punch was utilised, wrinkling and depression were minimised. For a forging interval of 1 mm, burr was eliminated however waving on the sides of the sheets was observed.



Fig. 6.14 Stainless steel sheets having inclined cross-section for (a) f = 1 mm, (b) f = 3 mm and (c) f = 5 mm.

The relationship between forging load of the stainless steel and aluminium sheets and the forging interval is shown in Fig. 6.15. The forging load for each material was almost the same for the forging intervals of 1, 3 and 5 mm using a taper bottom punch.





Fig. 6.15 Forging load for stainless steel and aluminium sheets.

The relationship between the average width difference and forging interval for aluminium and stainless steel sheets is shown in Fig. 6.16. The waving for both sheets were minimised by the taper bottom punch.



Fig. 6.16 Relationship between the average width difference and forging interval for aluminium and stainless steel sheets.

### 6.5. Conclusions

Long sheets having an inclined cross-section are found in printers to remove excess toners and regulate the inks for high quality printing. These sheets are generally produced by shearing however this process generates a large amount of scrap. Although rolling produces long sheets, the non-symmetrical cross-section caused wrinkling and curvature due to different deformation ratio. Sheet forging on the other hand is attractive to produce sheets having an inclined cross-section due to its flexibility. However a large load is required to forge a large workpiece.

The successive forging of long sheet having an inclined cross-section was developed to produce long sheets having an inclined cross-section. Due to the small feeding interval and forging load, successive forging is effective in forming a long sheet. A small mechanical press which is more common in the forming industry can be used since the forging load is greatly reduced. The inclined punch having a taper bottom has the advantage of minimizing waving and depression of the forged sheets. The curvature and burr of the forged sheet were minimised by the grooved die.

## Chapter 7 Concluding remarks

### 7.1. Summary

#### 7.1.1. Successive forging of tailored blank having thickness distribution

A successive forging of tailored blank having a thickness distribution was developed for hot stamping. Successively forged-tailored blanks offer an improvement in the strength and crash properties as well as reduction in weight. The thickness of the blanks was controlled by adjusting the amount of feeding under a constant punch stroke. A large reduction in thickness of the blank was obtained from a small feeding while a small reduction was obtained from a large feeding. A small feeding required a small forging load as compared to a large feeding. Hence elastic deformation of the tool and press was small. The steady-state reduction in thickness is almost linearly changed with the amount of constant feed. As the constant feed increases, the reduction in thickness decreases while the forging load increases. The transient region connecting the thick and thin portions was controlled to prevent excess weight and to produce symmetrical change in thickness. For the decrease in thickness, a large constant feeding produced a sharp change in thickness while a small feeding produced a gradual change in thickness. For the increase in thickness of the transient region, a small increment of the variable feeding produces a gradual change in thickness.

# 7.1.2. Improvement of surface quality of tailor-forged blank produced by successive forging by optimisation of punch shape

Improvement of surface quality of tailor-forged blank produced by successive forging by optimisation of punch shape was conducted. The upper punch inclination due to C-frame press deflection caused tool marks on the surface of the tailor-forged blanks. Optimisation by finite element simulation was conducted to obtain the optimised punch shape to prevent tool marks. The corner punch radius showed a minimised tool marks depth as compared to the sharp edge punch. Although a corner radius punch was utilised during successive forging, tool marks are still large. Therefore concave and convex plates were introduced to prevent the upper punch inclination. With the corner radius punch and the concave and convex plates, the tool marks formed were minimised.

#### 7.1.3. Hot stamping of roof rail from tailored blank having thickness distribution

A tailor-forged blank having two thicknesses was hot-stamped into a miniature of roof rail. The tailored blanks were heated to the austenitising temperature and quenched within dies. Although the tailored blank curved after the successive forging process, the curvature was prevented after hot stamping. After the successive forging, the Al-Si coating remained on the surface of the tailored blank and protected the blank from oxidation. For roof rails of 22MnB5 without coating, remarkable oxide scale was observed. The strength of the roof rails greatly increased after the hot stamping process. The produced hot-stamped tailored roof rail miniatures possessed great hardness and strength with a reduction in weight.

### 7.1.4. Local thickening of aluminium and SPCC sheets by beading and compression

A sheet forging process was developed to produce sheets having local thickening. The uniform thickness sheet was beaded freely without blank holders and thinning was prevented. The beaded portion was compressed while the width of the sheet was restricted and the strength increased locally from work hardening. The degree of local thickening increases with the increase in beading height. For a small beading height, local thickening was obtained using a flat beading die. However for a large beading height, folding occurred. A large beading height caused a vertical sidewall during compression. For a large feeding, local thickening was successfully produced with a beading die having an inclined surface. An inclined sidewall of the beaded portion improved the thickening behaviour and prevented the folding defect.

## 7.1.5. Successive forging of aluminium and stainless steel long sheets having inclined cross-sections

Successive forging of long sheet having an inclined cross-section was carried out. The sheet was forged sequentially and repeatedly by an inclined punch. Although a long sheet was being forged, only a small load is required due to a small compression area. Waving and depression were observed on the forged sheet with a flat bottom inclined punch. These defects were minimised by the use of a tapered bottom inclined punch. Due to different deformation rate, the sheet remarkably curved after the successive forging process. The reduction in thickness of the forged sheet decreases with the increase in the amount of feeding due to the elastic deformation of the press and tools. A side punch was introduced to prevent the curvature. The curvature was reduced however for a small feeding, burr was formed on the side of the sheet. To further minimize the curvature of the forged sheet having an inclined cross-section, a groove die was developed. Since a small load is required in the successive forging process, small mechanical presses conventionally used in forming industry can be used for a small forging interval.

### 7.2. Future perspectives

Rising demand of lightweight vehicles increases the use of light metals and improves the process of producing parts with an optimum thickness distribution. Although lightweight vehicles reduces the fuel consumption and  $CO_2$  emission, the strength and safety of the vehicles are not to be compromised. Tailored blanks joined with different materials and thicknesses offer substantial weight reduction and strength improvement. Tailored blanks locate local reinforcement at crucial area for example, area requiring high strength, the thickness is made larger as compared to the low strength area. This combination increases the strength and improve the safety of the passenger as well as reducing the weight of the vehicle. Tailored blanks are generally made by joining two or more sheets by welding. Although tailored blanks are advantages, the stress concentration due to the sharp change in thickness reduces the formability. Another type of tailored blanks is the tailor-rolled blank which is produced without joining. The thickness of the sheet is controlled by adjusting the gap between the rollers. The sharp change of thickness is overcome by the smooth transient region and hence formability is improves. However the supply of tailor-rolled blank is limited.

The development of successive forging process produces tailor-forged blank having a thickness distribution without joining similar to tailor-rolled blanks. Since local deformation is small, the forging load is also small. Therefore small mechanical presses commonly used in forming industry can be applied to produce tailored blanks by successive forging. In the present study, the thickness of the tailor-forged blank was successfully controlled. An automatic feeding history involving control of transient regions and thickness and length distribution as shown in Fig 7.1 is required for application in industry. With the comprehensive analysis of thickness and length distribution as well as the transient region, an accurate parts having a thickness distribution can be produced.



Figure 7.1. Control of transient regions and length distribution.

Currently the tailor-forged blank having longitudinal thickness transition was produced by successive forging. Although the productivity of successive forging process is lower than that of rolling, the successive forging process is suitable for producing prototype and preliminary tailored blanks having thickness distributions. To increase the flexibility of the tailor-forged blank, new punch shape and movement are required. Fig 7.2 shows the punch shapes and movements to produce a 2D profile tailor-forged blank having both longitudinal and lateral thickness distributions. With the combination of longitudinal and lateral thickness distribution, a more precise control of thickness distribution will be achieved.



Figure 7.2. Punch shapes and movements for producing 2D profile tailor-forged blank.

Tailored blanks having a thickness distribution locate the right material and thickness at the right place to increase the strength and reduced the weight. Parts having local thickening increases the strength to prevent thinning at the critical area that causes fracture during stamping. Currently, the tailored blank having local thickening produced by beading and compression is conducted separately. To increase the production rate and reduce the forming stage, successive forging of tailored blanks having local thickening by beading and compression shown in Fig. 7.3 is proposed. In the successive forging, a small portion of the sheet is beaded and compressed. A feeder is utilised to feed the sheet into the beading and compression areas. As the feeding progresses, the beaded portion is compressed. The beading and compression processes are conducted simultaneously.



Side view



Fig. 7.3 Successive forging of tailored blanks having local thickening by beading and compression.

## References

- J.S. Fuglestvedt, K.P. Shine, T. Berntsen, J. Cook, D.S. Lee, A. Stenke, R.B. Skeie, G.J.M. Velders, I.A. Waitz, Transport impacts on atmosphere and climate: Metrics, Atmospheric Environment, 44 (37) (2010), 4648-4677.
- O. Boucher, M. S. Reddy, Climate trade-off between black carbon and carbon dioxide emissions, Energy Policy, 36 (1) (2008), 193-200.
- E. Uherek, T. Halenka, J. Borken-Kleefeld, Y. Balkanski, T. Berntsen, C. Borrego, M. Gauss, P. Hoor, K. Juda-Rezler, J. Lelieveld, D. Melas, K. Rypdal, S. Schmid, Transport impacts on atmosphere and climate: Land transport, Atmospheric Environment, 44 (37) (2010), 4772-4816.
- J. Hirsch, Aluminium in innovative light-weight car design materials transactions, 52 (5) (2011), 818-824.
- 5. M. Kleiner, M. Geiger, A. Klaus, Manufacturing of lightweight components by metal forming, CIRP Annals Manufacturing Technology, 52 (2) (2003), 521-542.
- 6. M. Kleiner, S. Chatti, A. Klaus, Metal forming techniques for lightweight construction, Journal of Materials Processing Technology, 177 (1–3) (2006), 2-7.
- M. Merklein, M. Geiger, New materials and production technologies for innovative lightweight constructions, Journal of Materials Processing Technology, 125–126 (2002), 532–536.
- A. Kelkar, R. Roth, J. Clark, Automobile Bodies: Can Aluminum Be an Economical Alternative to Steel?, The Journal of The Minerals, Metals & Materials Society, 53 (8) (2001), 28-32.
- 9. G. S. Cole, A. M. Sherman, Lightweight materials for automotive applications, Materials Characterization, 35 (1) (1995), 3-9.
- W.S. Miller, L. Zhuang, J. Bottema, A.J. Wittebrood, P De Smet, A. Haszler, A. Vieregge, Recent development in aluminium alloys for the automotive industry, Materials Science and Engineering: A, 280 (1) (2000), 37-49.
- M. K. Kulekci, Magnesium and its alloys applications in automotive industry, The International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology, 39 (9) (2008), 851-865.

- T. Sakurai, The latest trends in aluminum alloy sheets for automotive body panels, Kabelco Technology Review, (2008), 22-28.
- S. Matsuoka, K. Hasegawa, Y. Tanaka, Newly-developed Ultra-High Tensile Strength Steels with excellent formability and weldability, JFE Technical Report, 10 (2007), 13-18.
- M. Takahashi, Development of high strength steels for automobiles, NIPPON STEEL Technical report, 88 (2003), 2-7.
- 15. K. Mori, S. Maki, Y. Tanaka, Warm and hot stamping of Ultra High Tensile Strength Steel Sheets using resistance heating, 54 (1) (2005), 209–212.
- 16. R. Kuziak, R. Kawalla, S. Waengler, Advanced high strength steels for automotive industry, Archives of Civil and Mechanical Engineering, 8 (2) (2008), 103-117.
- K. Mori, Smart hot stamping of ultra-high strength steel parts, Transactions of Nonferrous Metals Society of China, 22 (Supplement 2) (2012), s496–s503.
- K. Mori, S. Maki, Y. Tanaka, Warm and hot stamping of Ultra High Tensile Strength Steel Sheets using resistance heating, CIRP Annals - Manufacturing Technology, 54 (1) (2005), 209–212.
- 19. J. Yanagimoto, K. Oyamada, Springback of High-Strength Steel after hot and warm sheet formings, CIRP Annals Manufacturing Technology, 54 (1) (2005), 213–216.
- 20. 2011 Honda CR-Z high-strength steel application, Honda, Honda News, 14 June 2016 <http://www.hondanews.com/photos/2011-honda-cr-z-high-strength-steelapplication?query=high+strength+steel>.
- M. Merklein, M. Johannes, M. Lechner, A. Kuppert, A review on tailored blanks-Production, applications and evaluation, Journal of Materials Processing Technology, 14 (2) (2014), 151–164.
- 22. S. Kalpakjian, S. R. Schmid, Manufacturing, engineering and technology, Pearson Prentice Hall, (6<sup>th</sup> edition) (2010).
- S.M. Chan, L.C. Chan, T.C. Lee, Tailor-welded blanks of different thickness ratios effects on forming limit diagrams, Journal of Materials Processing Technology, 132 (1–3) (2003), 95–101.
- B. Kinsey, Z. Liu, J. Cao, A novel forming technology for tailor-welded blanks, Journal of Materials Processing Technology, 99 (1–3) (2000), 145–153.

- 25. R. Padmanabhan, M.C. Oliveira, L.F. Menezes, Deep drawing of aluminium–steel tailor-welded blanks, Materials & Design, 29 (1) (2008), 154–160.
- 26. K. Lamprecht, M. Merklein, M. Geiger, Hydroforming of patchwork blank -Numerical modeling And Experimental Validation, AIP Conference Proceedings, 778 (526) (2005), 526-531.
- 27. R. Kopp, C. Wiedner, A. Meyer, Flexibly rolled sheet metal and its use in sheet metal forming, Advanced Materials Research, 6-8 (2005), 81-92.
- 28. N. Ryabkov, F. Jackel, K. van Putten, G. Hirt, Production of blanks with thickness transitions in longitudinal and lateral direction through 3D-Strip Profile Rolling, International Journal of Material Forming, 1 (Supplement 1) (2008), 391-394.
- 29. A. Meyer, B. Wietbrock, G. Hirt, Increasing of the drawing depth using tailor rolled blanks-numerical and experimental analysis, International Journal of Machine Tools and Manufacture, 48 (5) (2008), 522-531.
- M. Urban, M. Krahn, G. Hirt, R. Kopp, Numerical research and optimisation of high pressure sheet metal forming of tailor rolled blanks, Journal of Materials Processing Technology 177 (1-3) (2006), 360-363.
- H.-W. Kim, C.-Y. Lim, Annealing of flexible-rolled Al–5.5 wt%Mg alloy sheets for auto body application, Materials & Design, 31 (Supplement 1) (2010), S71–S75.
- 32. M. Rehse, Flexible rolling of tailor rolled blanks innovative light weight design in steel, Mubea Engineering for Mobility, Great Designs in Steel Seminar.
- 33. Tan, C.J., Mori, K., Abe, Y., Forming of tailor blanks having local thickening for control of wall thickness of stamped products. Journal of Materials Processing Technology 202 (1-3) (2008), 443-449.
- 34. Mori, K., Abe, Y., Osakada, K., Hiramatsu, S., Plate forging of tailored blanks having local thickening for deep drawing of square cups. Journal of Materials Processing Technology 211 (10) (2011), 1569-1574.
- 35. Y. Abe, K. Mori, T. Ito, Plate forging of drawn cup with flange including thickening of corners, Manufacturing Rev., 16 (1) (2014), 1-9.
- 36. V. Salfeld, T. Matthias, R. Krimm, B.A. Behrens, Analysis of machine influence on process stability in sheet bulk metal forming, Procedia CIRP, 3 (2012), 32-36.
- 37. J. Yoon, H. Jeon, J. Lee, Process design of cold forging with thick plate for seat recliner parts, Materials & Design, 49 (2013), 449-455.

- M. Merklein, J.M. Allwood, B.-A. Behrens, A. Brosius, H. Hagenah, K. Kuzman, K. Mori, A.E. Tekkaya, A. Weckenmann, Bulk forming of sheet metal, CIRP Annals-Manufacturing Technology 61 (2) (2012), 725-745.
- 39. T. Maeno, K. Osakada, K. Mori, Reduction of friction in compression of plates by load pulsation, International Journal of Machine Tools and Manufacture, 51 (7–8) (2011) 612-617.
- T. Maeno, K. Mori, A. Hori, Application of load pulsation using servo press to plate forging of stainless steel parts, Journal of Materials Processing Technology, 214 (7) (2014), 1379-1387.
- 41. K. Mori, T. Nakano, State-of-the-art of plate forging in Japan, Production Engineering, 10 (1) (2016), 81-91.
- 42. R. Matsumoto, K. Hayashi, H. Utsunomiya, Experimental and numerical analysis of friction in high aspect ratio combined forward-backward extrusion with retreat and advance pulse ram motion on a servo press, Journal of Materials Processing Technology, 214 (4) (2014), 936-944.
- 43. J. Duflou, Y. Tunckol, A. Szekeres, P. Vanherck, Experimental study on force measurements for single point incremental forming, Journal of Materials Processing Technology, 189 (1–3) (2007), 65-72.
- 44. P.A.F. Martins, N. Bay, M. Skjoedt, M.B. Silva, Theory of single point incremental forming, CIRP Annals Manufacturing Technology, 57 (1) (2008), 247–252.
- 45. L. Tajul, T. Maeno, K. Mori, Successive forging of long plate having inclined crosssection, Procedia engineering, 81 (2014), 2361-2366.
- 46. L. Tajul, T. Maeno, K. Mori, Incremental forging of long plates having inclined crosssection and local thickening, International Journal of Mechanical & Mechatronics Engineering IJMME-IJENS, 16 (3) (2016), 34-52.
- 47. K. Mori, K. Akita, Y. Abe, Springback behaviour in bending of ultra-high-strength steel sheets using CNC servo press, International Journal of Machine Tools and Manufacture, 47 (2) (2007), 321–325.
- 48. H. Karbasian, A.E. Tekkaya, A review on hot stamping, Journal of Materials Processing Technology, 210(15) (2010), 2103–2118.
- 49. P.F. Bariani, S. Bruschi, A. Ghiotti, A. Turetta, Testing formability in the hot stamping of HSS, CIRP Annals Manufacturing Technology, 57 (1) (2008), 265-268.

- 50. C. Junjia, S. Guangyong, X. Junrui, H. Xiaodong, L, Guangyao, A method to evaluate the formability of high-strength steel in hot stamping, Materials & Design, 77 (2015), 95-109.
- 51. M. Merklein, J. Lechler, M. Geiger, Characterisation of the Flow Properties of the Quenchenable Ultra High Strength Steel 22MnB5, CIRP Annals - Manufacturing Technology, 55 (1) (2006), 229-232.
- R. Neugebauer, T. Altan, M. Geiger, M. Kleiner, A. Sterzing, Sheet metal forming at elevated temperatures, CIRP Annals-Manufacturing Technology, 55 (2) (2006), 793-816.
- 53. K. Mori, Smart hot stamping of ultra-high strength steel parts, Transactions of Nonferrous Metals Society of China, 22 (Supplement 2) (2012), s496–s503.
- 54. P. Hua, L. Ying, Y. Li, Z. Liao, Effect of oxide scale on temperature-dependent interfacial heat transfer in hot stamping process, Journal of Materials Processing Technology, 213(9) (2013), 475-1483.
- 55. N. Yukawa, Y. Nakashima, T. Ishiguro, E. Abe, T. Ishikawa, T. Choda, Modeling of heat transfer coefficient of oxide scale in hot forging, Procedia Engineering, 81 (2014), 492–497.
- 56. K. Mori, D. Ito, Prevention of oxidation in hot stamping of quenchable steel sheet by oxidation preventive oil, CIRP Annals - Manufacturing Technology,58 (1) (2009), 267-270.
- M. Maikranz-Valentin, U. Weidig, U. Schoof, H.-H. Becker, K. Steinhoff, Components with optimised properties due to advanced thermo-mechanical process strategies in hot sheet metal forming, Steel Research International, 79 (2) (2008), 92-97.
- Merklein, M., Wieland, M., Lechner, M., Bruschi, S, Ghiotti, A., Hot stamping of boron steel sheets with tailored properties: a review. Journal of Materials Processing Technology, 228 (2016), 11–24.
- D. Berglund, K. Amundsson, L.O. Hellgren, Hot stamped components with "soft zones" for improved crashworthiness-simulation and validation of product performance, Proceedings of International Deep Drawing Research Group, (2008), 675-686.

- 60. H. Hoffmann, H. So, H. Steinbeiss, Design of Hot Stamping Tools with Cooling System, CIRP Annals Manufacturing Technology, 56 (1) (2007), 269–272.
- 61. K. Mori, Y. Okuda, Tailor die quenching in hot stamping for producing ultra-high strength steel formed parts having strength distribution, CIRP Annals-Manufacturing Technology 59 (1) (2010), 291-294.
- 62. D.H. Kim, M.B. Moon, Y.J. Kim, Y.G. Kim, K.S. Kim, Lightweight car body manufactured through hot stamping and tailor welding of blanks, Steel Research International Special edition, (2011) 414-418.
- 63. J.W. Choi, M.-G. Lee, F. Barlat, H.S., Son, J.B. Nam, Hot press forming of tailor welded blank: experiments and FE modelling, ISIJ International, 52 (11) (2012), 2059-2068.
- 64. B. Tang, Z. Yuan, G. Cheng, L. Huang, W. Zheng, H. Xie, Experimental verification of tailor welded joining partners for hot stamping and analytical modeling of TWBs rheological constitutive in austenitic state, Materials Science & Engineering A, 585 (2013), 304-318.
- 65. R. Kolleck, R. Vollmer, C. Both, A. Breuer, Investigation of weld seam structures of tailor welded blanks for hot stamping, Key Engineering Materials, 639 (2015), 235-242.
- 66. M. Kang, Y.-M. Kim, C. Kim, Effect of heating parameters on laser welded tailored blanks of hot press forming steel, Journal of Materials Processing Technology, 228 (2016), 137-144.
- 67. R. Perez-Santiago, E. Billur, A. Ademaj, C. Sarmiento, R. Berlanga, T. Altan, Hot stamping a B-pillar with tailored properties: experiments and preliminary simulation results, Proceedings in Int. Hot Stamping Conferences, (2013), 83-90.
- 68. J. C. González Palencia, T. Furubayashi, T. Nakata, Energy use and CO2 emissions reduction potential in passenger car fleet using zero emission vehicles and lightweight materials, Energy, 148 (1) (2012), 548–565.
- O. van Vliet, A. S. Brouwer, Takeshi Kuramochi, Machteld van den Broek, André Faaij, Energy use, cost and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions of electric cars, Journal of Power Sources, 196 (4) (2011), 2298–2310.

- 70. G. Pasaoglu, M. Honselaar, C.Thiel, Potential vehicle fleet CO<sub>2</sub> reductions and cost implications for various vehicle technology deployment scenarios in Europe, Energy Policy, 40 (2012), 404–421.
- 71. J.-O. Sperle and K. Olsson, High strength and ultra high strength steels for weight reduction in structural and safety related applications, Proceedings of ISATA 29th International Symposium on Automotive Technology and Automation, 1 (1996), 115–125.
- 72. B. L. Kinsey and X. Wu, Tailor welded blanks for advanced manufacturing, Woodhead Publishing Limited, (2011).
- 73. R.W. Davies, H.E. Oliver, M.T. Smith, G.J. Grant, Characterizing Al tailor-welded blanks for automotive applications, The Journal of The Minerals, Metals & Materials Society (51 (11) (1999), 46-50.
- 74. V.V.N. Satya Suresh, S. P. Regalla, A. K. Guptab, G. Padmanabham, Weld line shift in the case of tailor welded blanks subjected to differential strengths with respect to TIG and Laser welding, Materials Today: Proceedings, 2 (4–5) (2015), 3501-3510.
- 75. X. Wang, L. Li, L. Deng, J. Jin, Y. Hu, Effect of forming parameters on sheet metal stability during a rotary forming process for rim thickening, Journal of Materials Processing Technology, 223 (2015), 262–273.
- 76. Y. Abe, K. Mori, T. Ito, Multi-stage stamping including thickening of corners of drawn cup, Procedia Engineering, 81 (2014), 825-830.
- 77. S.O. Gashti, A. Fattah-alhosseini, Y. Mazaheri, M.K. Keshavarz, Effects of grain size and dislocation density on strain hardening behavior of ultrafine grained AA1050 processed by accumulative roll bonding, Journal of Alloys and Compounds, 658 (2016),854–861.
- 78. M. Salmani Tehrani, P. Hartley, H. Moslemi Naeini, H. Khademizadeh, Localised edge buckling in cold roll-forming of symmetric channel section, Thin-Walled Structures, 44 (2) (2006),184–196.
- R. Nakhoul, P. Montmitonnet, S. Abdelkhalek, Flatness defect in thin strip cold rolling and the friction impact on it, Proceedings of NAMRI/SME, 40 (2012), 234-243.

- 80. S. Abdelkhalek, H. Zahrouni, M. Potier-Ferry, N. Legrand, P. Montmitonnet, P. Buessler, Coupled and uncoupled approaches for thin cold rolled strip buckling prediction, International Journal of Material Forming, 2 (833) (2009), 833-836.
- I. Flitta and T. Sheppard, Nature of friction in extrusion process and its effect on material flow, Materials Science and Technology, 19 (2003), 837-846.
- A. García-Dominguez, J. Claver, A.M. Camacho, M.A. Sebastian, Comparative analysis of extrusion processes by finite element analysis, Procedia Engineering, 100 (2015), 74-83.
- B.P.P.A. Gouveia, J.M.C. Rodrigues, N. Bay, P.A.F. Martins, Finite-element modelling of cold forward extrusion, Journal of Materials Processing Technology, 94 (2–3) (1999), 85–93.

## List of publications

- Liyana Tajul, Tomoyoshi Maeno, Ken-ichiro Mori, Incremental forging of long plates having inclined cross-section and local thickening, International Journal of Mechanical & Mechatronics Engineering, 16 (3) (2016), pp. 34-52.
- Liyana Tajul, Tomoyoshi Maeno, Takaya Kinoshita, Ken-ichiro Mori, Successive forging of tailored blank having thickness distribution for hot stamping, International Journal of Advanced Manufacturing Technology, (2016), doi:10.1007/s00170-016-9356-z.

### List of conferences

### International

- 1. **Liyana Tajul**, Tomoyoshi Maeno, Ken-ichiro Mori, Successive forging of long plate having inclined cross-section, Procedia Engineering, 81 (2014), pp. 2361 2366.
- Liyana Tajul, Tomoyoshi Maeno, Takaya Kinoshita, Ken-ichiro Mori, Successive forging of tailored blank having thickness distribution for hot stamping, *JSTP 7th International Seminar on Precision Forging*, Nagoya, Japan, 9-12 March 2015.

### Local

- Liyana Tajul, Tomoyoshi Maeno, Ken-ichiro Mori, Takaya Kinoshita, Successive forging of long plate having inclined cross-section, *The 64th Japanese Joint Conference for the Technology of Plasticity*, Osaka, Japan, 1-3 November 2013.
- Liyana Tajul, Tomoyoshi Maeno, Ken-ichiro Mori, Takaya Kinoshita, Forging of plate having local thickening using beading and compression, *The 2014 Japanese Spring Conference for the Technology of Plasticity*, Tsukuba, Japan, 6-8 June 2014.
- Liyana Tajul, Tomoyoshi Maeno, Takaya Kinoshita, Ken-ichiro Mori, Control of thickness distribution in successive forging of tailored blank for hot stamping, *The* 65th Japanese Joint Conference for the Technology of Plasticity, Okayama, Japan, 11-13 October 2014.
- 4. Liyana Tajul, Tomoyoshi Maeno, Takaya Kinoshita, Ken-ichiro Mori, Improvement of surface quality of tailor forged blank produced by successive forging for hot stamping by incline correcting die, *The 2015 Japanese Spring Conference for the Technology of Plasticity*, Yokohama, Japan, 29-31 May 2015.

### Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank God for giving me the strength and courage throughout this entire journey. I could never have done this without His blessings.

I would like to express my sincere appreciation to my supervisor Professor Kenichiro Mori for his continuous supervision and support during my Doctoral study and research, for his patience and extensive knowledge.

I would like to give my sincere thanks to Associate Professor Dr. Tomoyoshi Maeno and Associate Professor Dr. Yohei Abe for their valuable advice and motivation during my research in the laboratory. I would like to express my gratitude to Mr Takaya Kinoshita and Mr Yoshimitsu Murata and other fellow laboratory members of Frontier Forming System Laboratory for their help and support.

Special thanks to my thesis committee member and examiner Professor Takayuki Shibata for his comments and critical advice on this study.

Thanks also to all the staff in the Department of Mechanical Engineering, Academic Affair Division and International Affairs Division, Toyohashi University of Technology for their continuous support, advice and help.

In addition, special thanks to Universiti Malaysia Perlis and Ministry of Education of Malaysia for their financial support granted during my study and stay in Japan.

Last but not least, I would like to express my deepest thanks to my husband, Mr Muhammad Hasnulhadi for his love, advice and support. I also wish to thank my father, mother, family, relatives and friends for their continuous advice and encouragement through these years.

Nur Liyana Binti Tajul Lile Kedah October 2016

113